Modeling and Control of a Modular Battery Management System for Lithium-Ion Battery Packs

by

Fan Zhang

B.S., Harbin Institute of Technology, 2012M.S., University of Colorado Boulder, 2016

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Colorado in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Department of Electrical, Computer, and Energy Engineering 2017 This thesis entitled: Modeling and Control of a Modular Battery Management System for Lithium-Ion Battery Packs written by Fan Zhang has been approved for the Department of Electrical, Computer, and Energy Engineering

Prof. Dragan Maksimović

Prof. Regan Zane

Date _____

The final copy of this thesis has been examined by the signatories, and we find that both the content and the form meet acceptable presentation standards of scholarly work in the above mentioned discipline. Zhang, Fan (Ph.D., Electrical, Computer, and Energy Engineering)

Modeling and Control of a Modular Battery Management

System for Lithium-Ion Battery Packs

Thesis directed by Prof. Dragan Maksimović

High voltage (HV) traction battery packs in electric-drive vehicles (HEV, PHEV, BEV) consist of a large number of battery cells connected in series. As individual cells exhibit mismatches in characteristics such as capacity, inner resistance, and run-time state-of-charge (SOC), cell balancing must be incorporated into the battery management system (BMS). Conventional passive cell balancing does not fully address the mismatch issues, which leads to shorter battery lifetime, and the need to over-size the battery pack. To overcome the problems associated with the conventional architecture, a modular battery management system incorporating both active cell balancing and high voltage (HV) to low-voltage (LV) dc-dc conversion has been developed. The HV-to-LV converter is a series-input, paralleloutput dc-dc system with inputs connected across the battery cells or cell modules, while paralleled outputs supply loads on the LV bus. This thesis is focused on modeling, control and design of the modular battery management system. Several critical issues are addressed: (1) stability of the converter system with distributed control in energy storage application is analyzed and simulated; (2) the steady-state model of the dual-active-bridge (DAB) isolated converter with phase-shift modulation is refined and applied to the modular converter system with cell balancing; (3) practical methods for estimation of the Lithium-ion battery state-ofcharge (SOC) and state-of-health (SOH) are developed in forms suitable for implementation on low-cost microcontrollers. Finally, a modular hybrid balancing system with module-level active balancing and cell-level passive balancing is developed and experimentally validated. The techniques developed in this thesis can be applied to designs of large automotive battery packs with improved performance, reduced size, reduced cost, and longer lifetime.

Dedication

To my parents, and Shanshan, and Robin

Acknowledgements

I would like to extend my greatest respect and sincerest gratitude to my advisor, Professor Dragan Maksimović. Without his guidance, support, and patience, the completion of my Ph.D. study would be impossible.

I would like to thank Professors Regan Zane, Gregory Plett, and Scott Trimboli, who inspire me and provide significant help in projects and researches.

I would also like to thank Professors Khurram Afridi, and Hanh-Phuc Le, who give me valuable support and suggestion in my graduate study.

I am grateful to members of Colorado Power Electronics Center (CoPEC), for the wonderful experiences in the lab.

Special thank to Mr. M. Muneeb Ur Rehman from Utah Power Electronics Lab (UPEL), Utah State University, for the assistance and collaboration in the project.

Finally, I would like to thank my families for their love and support throughout my graduate study.

Contents

Chapter

1	Ove	rview of Lithium-Ion Battery Packs and Battery Management Systems	1
	1.1	Effect of Cell Mismatch in Large Battery Packs	2
	1.2	Conventional Cell Balancing Techniques	4
		1.2.1 Passive Balancing	5
		1.2.2 Active Balancing	6
	1.3	Novel Modular Active Balancing BMS	9
	1.4	Thesis Objectives and Organization	11
2	Stab	oility of the Modular BMS with Distributed Control of the Series-Input-Parallel-	
	Out	put Converter System	13
	2.1	Automatic Balancing with Distributed Bus Voltage Regulation	16
	2.2	SOC Control Loop	20
	2.3	Comprehensive Analysis of the SOC Control Loop	22
	2.4	Summary	29
3	Improved Steady-State Model of the Dual-Active-Bridge Converter		
	3.1	A New Approach to Derivation of DAB Steady-State Model	34
	3.2	Derivation of Improved DAB Steady-State Model	36
	3.3	Experimental Results	44
	3.4	Summary	45

4	Mici	rocontroller Implementation of Lithium-Ion Battery State-of-Charge Estimation	47
	4.1	Battery Cell Modeling	49
	4.2	SOC Estimation Using Kalman Filter	51
		4.2.1 Introduction to Kalman filter based SOC Estimation	51
		4.2.2 SOC Estimation using the Sigma-Point Kalman Filter (SPKF)	54
	4.3	1st-Order SPKF Approach Using Higher-Order Cell Model	55
	4.4	Experimental Results	58
	4.5	Summary	62
5	Lith	ium-Ion Battery State-of-Health Estimation Using Long Term Aging Data	63
	5.1	Experimental Results	65
	5.2	Summary	69
6	Hyb	rid Balancing in a Modular Battery Management System	71
	6.1	Hybrid Balancing Approach	71
		6.1.1 Module-Level Active Balancing	72
		6.1.2 Cell-Level Passive Balancing	72
		6.1.3 Module-Level SOC and SOH	73
	6.2	Modular Hybrid-Balancing System Implementation	75
		6.2.1 Shared Battery Cell Measurements	76
		6.2.2 Shared Central BMS Controller	78
		6.2.3 Shared Communication Bus	78
	6.3	Experimental Results	80
	6.4	Summary	81
7	Con	clusions and Future Work	82
	7.1	Conclusions	82
	7.2	Future Work	84

vii

Bibliography

86

Tables

Table

2.1	Parameters in Eq. (2.11)	24
2.2	Parameters in Eq. (2.11), with Droop Control	26
3.1	Symbol Definition	32
3.2	DAB Prototype	34
3.3	Parameters in the Improved DAB Steady-State Model	39
3.4	Parameters in the Simplified Improved DAB Steady-State Model	42
4.1	State-Space Forms for Different Cell Equivalent Circuit Models	50
4.2	Basic Kalman Filter Equations	53
4.3	Extended Kalman Filter Equations	54
4.4	Sigma-Point Kalman Filter (SPKF) Equations	56
4.5	Experimental Setup	60
5.1	SOC Estimation Setup	67
5.2	Total Capacity Estimation Setup	69
6.1	Comparison of Converter Specifications for An 84-Cell Lithium-Ion Battery	
	Pack	75

Figures

Figure

1.1	Large battery pack that consists of a large number of lithium-ion cells. $\ . \ .$	3
1.2	Scenarios in which the battery pack is (a) unable to be discharged; (b) unable	
	to be charged; (c) unable to be either charged or discharged. \ldots \ldots \ldots	3
1.3	Passive balancing with (a) shunt resistor connected all the time; (b) Zener	
	diode; (c) shunt resistor controlled by switch	5
1.4	Active balancing with (a) step-up converter; (b) multi-winding transformer;	
	(c) switched capacitor	7
1.5	Conventional xEV battery and BMS architecture	9
1.6	Modular BMS incorporating xEV LV bus voltage regulation	10
1.7	Modular BMS incorporating battery pack output voltage regulation	11
2.1	Active balancing with series-input-parallel-output converter system in (a) pho-	
	tovoltaic (PV) application; (b) xEV application	14
2.2	System model used in bus voltage regualtion design	16
2.3	Isolated dc-dc with dual-active-bridge (DAB).	16
2.4	Unit k in the system, with the voltage loop modeled	18
2.5	Control diagram of bus voltage regulation.	18
2.6	Loop-gain Bode plot for the bus voltage loop.	19
2.7	Converter input current oscillation.	20

2.8	Unit k in the system, with the SOC loop modeled	21
2.9	Control diagram of the SOC loop of unit k	21
2.10	System model used in comprehensive SOC loop analysis	23
2.11	Comprehensive SOC loop analysis.	23
2.12	Introduction to additional droop control in unit k	25
2.13	Comprehensive SOC loop analysis with droop control	27
2.14	SOC loop loop-gain Bode plot with different droop resistance.	28
2.15	3-cell system with $R_{drp} = 6.4 \mathrm{m}\Omega$, (a) simulation results; (b) experimental	
	results (experiment done by Mr. M. Muneeb Ur Rehman, Utah Power Elec-	
	tronics Lab, Utah State University)	28
3.1	Topology of the dual-active-bridge (DAB) converter	31
3.2	DAB switching waveforms with phase-shift modulation	31
3.3	DAB prototype designed for the modular active balancing BMS	33
3.4	Mismatch between the ideal model in Eq. 3.1 and the experimental results	
	with the DAB prototype: (a) I_{in} vs. V_{in} ($t_{\varphi} = 30$ ns, $V_{out} = 14.0$ V); (b) I_{in}	
	vs. V_{out} ($t_{\varphi} = 35 \mathrm{ns}$, $Vin = 4.0 \mathrm{V}$)	33
3.5	(a) Ideal DAB tank model; (b) superposition: primary-side source; (c) super-	
	position: secondary-side source.	36
3.6	Superposition of the ideal DAB tank current waveform	36
3.7	Ideal tank waveform for (a) superposition: primary-side source; (b) superpo-	
	sition: secondary-side source.	37
3.8	(a) Lossy DAB tank model; (b) superposition: primary-side source; (c) su-	
	perposition: secondary-side source.	38
3.9	DAB tank current waveform with conduction loss	38
3.10	Lossy tank waveform for (a) superposition: primary-side source; (b) superpo-	
	sition: secondary-side source.	39

- 3.11 Steady-state DAB characteristics based on the improved model in Eq. (3.7) with different tank resistance R: (a) I_{in} vs. V_{in} ($t_{\varphi} = 0$ ns, $V_{out} = 14.0$ V); (b) I_{in} vs. V_{out} ($t_{\varphi} = 0$ ns, $V_{in} = 4.0$ V). DAB parameters are as shown in Table 3.2. 40

- Battery cell equivalent circuit models: (a) simple model; (b) RC model; (c) 4.1 494.2524.357594.421-cell battery pack at Utah Power Electronics Lab, Utah State University. 4.5Battery cell current profile. Each color represents a different cell. 594.6True SOC of each cell. Each color represents a different cell. 60 Experimental results of 1^{st} -order SPKF SOC estimation errors: (a) simple 4.7model; (b) RC model; (c) ESC model. Each color represents a different cell. 615.1Curve fitting with weighted-total-least-square method. 645.2The modified commercial PHEV battery pack tested at NREL, photos taken by Dr. Ying Shi: (a) entire battery pack setup; (b) modular active balancing
- BMS in one half pack. [77]665.3NREL lithium-ion battery aging data for 9 months. Cells 2, 3, 4, 25, 26, and27 in the modular active balancing BMS are selected.67

5.4	Total capacity estimation results (a) cell 2; (b) cell 3; (c) cell 4; (d) cell 25; (e)	
	cell 26; (f) cell 27	68
6.1	Conventional passive balancing system	73
6.2	Modular system with hybrid balancing	74
6.3	Efficiency of the dual-active-bridge (DAB) converter in the modular hybrid	
	balancing system.	77
6.4	Control architecture for the active balancing system. [70]	77
6.5	(a) $1.7 \mathrm{kWh}$ modular hybrid system prototype assembled by collaborators at	
	the Utah Power Electronics Lab; (b) modular LV-to-LV converter with battery	
	monitoring IC; (c) central BMS controller.	79
6.6	Module-level active balancing for 3 modules	80
6.7	Cell-level passive balancing for the 6 cells within one module	80
7.1	Modular BMS incorporating both active balancing and battery output voltage	
	regulation.	85
7.2	Hardware demonstration of the modular BMS incorporating both active bal-	
	ancing and battery output voltage regulation.	85

Chapter 1

Overview of Lithium-Ion Battery Packs and Battery Management Systems

Along with increasing demand and rapid development of clean energy worldwide, midto large-scale energy storage systems based on battery cells is becoming a key technology. One of the most important applications for large battery packs is in electric drive vehicles: hybrid electric vehicles (HEV), plug-in hybrid electric vehicles (PHEV), and electric vehicles (EV) or, more generally, xEV's. In recent years, the more electrified drivetrain trend has been accelerating. In addition to emerging EV companies, existing automotive manufacturers are increasingly offering various xEV's. From year 2012 to year 2016, the number of electric drive vehicles sold in the U.S. nearly doubled [11].

Among technologies in electric drive vehicles, the design of a safe and compact traction battery pack with sufficient energy storage is critical. A traction battery pack typically provides dc voltage at hundreds of volts and power at tens to hundreds of kilowatts to the vehicle drivetrain. To meet the voltage and power specifications, a large number of battery cells are connected in parallel and in series. However, the cells in a battery pack exhibit mismatches in parameters, and dealing with the cell mismatch is a challenging issue in large battery pack.

This chapter gives an overview of the battery management systems (BMS) for large battery packs. In Section 1.1, the effect of cell mismatch and the necessity of balancing is discussed. In Section 1.2, typical battery balancing methods, including passive and active balancing, are reviewed. In Section 1.3, novel active balancing BMS incorporating other xEV functions are introduced. The focus and organization of the dissertation are given in Section 1.4.

1.1 Effect of Cell Mismatch in Large Battery Packs

A large battery pack is shown in Fig. 1.1. Individual battery cells are limited in voltage rating. The terminal voltage of a battery cell depends on cell chemistry, and is only in the order of 3-4 V for lithium-ion cells commonly used in xEV battery packs. As a result, a large number of cells should be stacked in series to achieve high battery pack output voltage. An individual battery cell is also limited in current rating, usually expressed in the cell's C rate. The C rate is the ratio of the cell current expressed in amperes and the cell total capacity value expressed in amp-hours. Several cells may be connected in parallel to achieve high battery pack output current. Unlike series connection, parallel connection is relatively immune to cell mismatch. A combination of paralleled cells is considered a super cell [63,64]. As the parallel connection does not make much difference in balancing, both a physical cell and a super cell are referred to as a cell in this work.

State-of-charge (SOC) is used to evaluate the level of remaining charge left in a battery cell or a battery pack, and is defined in Eq. (1.1). For example, SOC = 100% represents the case when the battery is fully charged and the remaining charge of the battery equals to the battery total capacity. SOC = 0% represents the case when the battery is fully discharged and the remaining charge is zero.

$$SOC = \frac{Current \ charge}{Total \ capacity: \ Q_{tot}}$$
(1.1)

Ideally, all the cells in a battery pack are identical. Charging or discharging the battery pack results in simultaneously charging or discharging of individual cells, so that the pack SOC and all the cell SOC's are ideally identical. However, practical cells exhibit mismatches in characteristics such as capacity, inner resistance, and self-discharing rate. The mismatches cause slow divergence in cell SOCs. The difference in SOC decreases the performance of the



Figure 1.1: Large battery pack that consists of a large number of lithium-ion cells.



Figure 1.2: Scenarios in which the battery pack is (a) unable to be discharged; (b) unable to be charged; (c) unable to be either charged or discharged.

entire battery pack [49]. To understand the problem, three scenarios are examined. In all the scenarios, it is assumed that all the cells have identical total capacity, the SOC difference is caused by different self-discharging rate and leaking current. In the first scenario, shown in

Fig. 1.2 (a), the remaining charge of the entire battery string is limited by the cell with the lowest SOC. When any cell reaches 0 % SOC, the battery pack cannot be further discharged, even if there are plenty of remaining charges in the other cells. In the second scenario, shown in Fig. 1.2 (b), the battery charging process is limited by the cell with the highest SOC. When any cell reaches 100 % SOC, the entire battery pack cannot be further charged. In the extreme scenario shown in Fig. 1.2 (c), including both fully charged and discharged cells, the battery pack cannot be charged or discharged, i.e., cannot be cycled any further.

For lithium-ion batteries [47,84], neither overcharge or overdischarge are acceptable. Violations of safety limits may not only cause irreversible capacity and power fade, but also lead to dangerous accidents such as catching fire or leaking toxic materials. As a result, simple balancing techniques used in lead-acid and nickel based batteries, known as extend charging, cannot be adopted for use with the lithium-ion chemistry. Additional circuits are necessary to achieve balancing in lithium-ion battery packs. Several balancing strategies are briefly reviewed in the next section.

1.2 Conventional Cell Balancing Techniques

Battery balancing using additional circuits are typically categorized into two classes: passive balancing and active balancing. Passive balancing is a dissipative process. If any cell in the battery string develops more stored electrical charge than the other cells, the excessive charge will be dumped and converted to heat. On the other hand, active balancing is recognized as a non-dissipative process. Rather than simply converting electricity to heat, the extra charge in a 'stronger' cell is transferred to a 'weaker' cell. As no electrical energy is wasted, active balancing is considered more advanced than passive balancing. However, the circuits for active balancing are usually more complicated due to the need for electrical power conversion, which in practice adds extra cost, size, and weight to the battery pack. Nowadays, passive balancing is still the most popular lithium-ion battery balancing strategy. Battery management systems (BMS) with passive balancing is widely commercialized and



Figure 1.3: Passive balancing with (a) shunt resistor connected all the time; (b) Zener diode; (c) shunt resistor controlled by switch.

used in electric vehicles, and many other applications with large battery packs.

Several classical passive and active balancing methods are reviewed next.

1.2.1 Passive Balancing

A very simple passive balancing method is shown in Fig. 1.3 (a), with a shunt resistor directly connected in parallel with the battery cell. As the terminal voltage of most battery cells changes monotonically with its SOC, the cell with higher SOC also has a higher terminal voltage, and naturally discharges faster than the cell with a lower SOC. However the discharging process is not controllable. The cells will keep dumping energy even if balanced or not. A low charging current is necessary to maintain the charge of the battery pack at all times.

A Zener diode could be used as an alternative to the resistor, as shown in Fig. 1.3 (b). The terminal voltage of each cell is limited by the Zener diode voltage in parallel. A major disadvantage of this method is that the balancing process only happens at the end of charging, and current sinking capability of the Zener diode limits the speed of charging. Better passive balancing is achieved by adopting controllable power dissipation [28,49]. A switch is connected between the battery cell and a shunt resistor, as shown in Fig. 1.3 (c). The switch closes if charge dumping is necessary and opens if not. As a result, less electrical energy is wasted compared to the method in Fig. 1.3 (a), and faster charging is achieved compared with the method in Fig. 1.3 (b). However, performance of a passive balanced battery pack highly depends on the extent of cell parameter differences such as total capacity. With good manufacturing, the total capacity of the cells in a battery pack could be controlled within a narrow range, making the deficiency of passive balancing relatively small at the beginning of battery life. However, as the battery ages, the total capacity fades differently from cell to cell, making passive balancing increasingly wasteful and incapable of balancing cells sufficiently quickly. Moreover, the performance of the entire battery pack remains limited by the weakest cell.

1.2.2 Active Balancing

Due to the drawbacks of passive balancing, active balancing became a topic of interest. One of the very first concepts of active balancing is based on step-up dc-dc converters [25, 26, 28], as shown in Fig. 1.4 (a). The method significantly improved the battery charge usage and balancing speed. However, a major drawback is the necessity for high-voltage switches in each step-up converter. Another drawback, highlighted by other researchers in 1990s, is the necessity of precise cell monitoring and control. It should be noted that although sensing and control was a concern, it is no longer a barrier today due the great improvements and cost reductions in microelectronics technology. In fact, precise cell monitoring becomes mandatory in mordern xEV battery management systems. The state-of-the-art commercial lithium-ion BMS achieves less than 1 mV sensing error in cell voltage [44].

Another active balancing method without the need of precise cell voltage sensing was proposed and developed in [38–41,73]. Fundamentally, a multi-winding coaxial transformer is adopted to achieve voltage matching of the battery cells. A flyback converter with multi-



Figure 1.4: Active balancing with (a) step-up converter; (b) multi-winding transformer; (c) switched capacitor.

winding transformer is shown in Fig. 1.4 (b). Apparently, the multi-winding transformer may cause significant assembly difficulties, and thus becomes less practical especially in large batteries. In addition, a new transformer has to be designed whenever there is a change in battery cell quantity. More importantly, most BMSs today require more advanced SOC balancing rather than simple voltage balancing, the control scheme in 1.4 (b) actually becomes a drawback.

Switched capacitor based active balancing system was proposed and developed in [35, 56]. The architecture is shown in Fig. 1.4 (c). Going along the path of voltage balancing, neither sensing or closed-loop control, nor bulky magnetic devices are required. In addition, the architecture is able to be quickly adapted to different battery size and chemistry, leveraging from the concept of modular design. However, a significant disadvantage is the limitation in balancing speed. Charge has to be transferred through adjacent battery cells. The performance of the system is predominantly decided by how close the imbalanced cells are located in the battery string.

Motivated by the potential advantages of active balancing, many approaches have been

investigated over the past few decades [5, 10, 20, 42, 51, 55, 85]. Benefits and drawbacks have been claimed in different applications and aspects. For example, [5] proposed a doubletied switch capacitor system to improve the balancing speed, but at the cost of using more capacitors. Reference [51] proposed a converter based cell-to-cell balancing in which a buckboost converter connects adjacent cells with soft-switching, however the balancing speed is still limited due to the necessity of shuttling charge through adjacent cells. Although these methods achieve better balancing performance, none of them have demonstrated significant practical advantages over passive balancing.

Before going deeper into the research of better active balancing methods, the critical features of a practical BMS in xEV applications are summarized:

1. Accurate battery cell voltage (and current) monitoring is always mandatory to guarantee safe operation. Although many works claim that cell voltage measurement is not necessary in their balancing schemes, the elimination of cell voltage sensing has rarely been adopted or demonstrated in any practical lithium-ion battery system.

2. Accurate online SOC and SOH estimation becomes more and more important, motivated by potentials of prolonging battery lifetime. It should be noted that accurate SOC and SOH estimation also greatly depends on the cell voltage monitoring mentioned above.

3. In addition to SOC and SOH estimation, balancing speed is also playing an important role in prolonging battery life [69].

4. Various 'modular' concepts have received increasing attention. The BMS architecture should be quickly adapted to different battery size, chemistry, and balancing algorithms, without the need to re-designing hardware.

5. To demonstrate practical advantage over passive balancing, the additional cost, size, and weight associated with active balancing must be considered.



Figure 1.5: Conventional xEV battery and BMS architecture.

1.3 Novel Modular Active Balancing BMS

With the key points summarized above taken into consideration, it is found that novel active-balancing approaches could pursued at the system level, by incorporating other xEV functions in combination with BMS functions.

The conventional xEV power supply architecture shown in Fig. 1.5 is examined first. An xEV has two groups of loads. The primary load is the xEV drivetrain, which is directly connected to the battery high-voltage output. The traction battery provides energy in propulsion and absorbs energy during regenerative braking. In addition to the drivetrain, the vehicle also contains a variety of auxiliary loads, such as lighting, air-conditioning, and the vehicle controllers, and other systems. These loads require much lower voltage and are typically connected to a vehicle low-voltage (LV) bus — commonly rated at 12 V nominal. In a conventional internal combustion engine (ICE) vehicle, the main power for the LV bus comes from an alternator, which transfers energy from the engine. In addition, an automotive lead-acid battery is also tied to the LV bus to stabilize the voltage and provide engine startup power. In xEV, however, the alternator is replaced by an HV-to-LV step-down dc-dc converter. The step-down converter transfers energy from the large traction battery to the LV bus. In an xEV, the need of an automotive battery is also debatable, as the traction



Figure 1.6: Modular BMS incorporating xEV LV bus voltage regulation.

battery already serves as an energy storage device. If the bandwidth of the HV-to-LV stepdown converter is high enough to damp load transient on the LV bus, the automotive LV battery may be considered redundant.

A modular BMS incorporating xEV LV bus regulation was first proposed in [13]. The system is shown in Fig. 1.6. Each cell in the traction battery string is connected to an isolated low-power LV-to-LV modular converter, and the outputs of the modular converters are connected to the LV bus. The series-input-parallel-output converter system not only processes differential power for cell-level active balancing, but also supplies xEV auxiliary loads and performs fast LV bus regulation. As a result, the conventional HV-to-LV step-down converter and automotive battery are replaced by the novel BMS. A significant amount of cost associated with the active balancing BMS is thus alleviated. Follow-up works also report up to 40% battery lifetime extension for BEV75 [67, 69, 77], which further reduces the battery cost.

Another option consists of designing modular BMS incorporating battery pack output voltage regulation. In many xEV drivetrains, a dc-dc converter is placed between the traction battery and the traction inverter. The dc-dc converter boosts the battery voltage to a higher value to improve the inverter and motor efficiency. In Fig. 1.7, the dc-dc function



Figure 1.7: Modular BMS incorporating battery pack output voltage regulation.

is achieved by a group of series-output converters. Instead of directly connecting battery cells in series, the battery cells are stacked through modular converters. The series-output converter system combines both active balancing and the boost converter functions in xEV drivetrain. Different from the BMS in Fig. 1.6, the modular converters need to process full powertrain current for xEV cruising, increasing the importance of efficiency and reliability of the modular converters. Some work in this area has been done in [20,48], however overall system benefits are yet to be fully demonstrated.

1.4 Thesis Objectives and Organization

This dissertation focuses on different aspects of the modular battery management system (BMS) with series-input-parallel-output converter system incorporating both cell-level active balancing and LV bus regulation in electric drive vehicles (xEV). The system architecture is shown in Fig. 1.6. Chapter 2 analyzes the stability of the modular BMS with autonomous converter control. Chapter 3 focuses on the modeling issue of the isolated dual-active-bridge converter used in the system. Chapter 4 develops a 1st-order sigma-point Kalman filter (SPKF) SOC estimation method for lithium-ion battery cells. Chapter 5 evaluates two state-of-the-art online state-of-health (SOH) estimation methods using data from long term aging tests. Chapter 6 extends the research in the direction of further reducing system complexity and cost, focusing on a new hybrid balancing scheme with module-level active balancing and cell-level passive balancing. Chapter 7 summarizes the contributions of the thesis, and gives a brief overview of some potential future directions.

The work and the results reported in this thesis contributed to a multi-disciplinary project focused on robust cell-level modeling and control of large battery packs. Sponsored by ARPA-E AMPED program, the project was a collaboration between Utah State University (USU), University of Colorado Boulder (CU Boulder), University of Colorado Colorado Spring (UCCS), National Renewable Energy Lab (NREL), and Ford Motor Company. The results of this thesis were included in modeling, control, design and implementation of a large prototype battery pack based on modifications of a commercial PHEV battery with eighty-four lithium-ion cells in series. The modular active balancing BMS was applied to a half pack with forty-two cells, while conventional passive balancing was applied to the other half pack for comparison. The modular active balancing BMS demonstrated potentials for significant improvements in battery lifetime, verified by a 15-month cycling and aging test performed at NREL. The prototype also demonstrated potentials for cost and size reduction achieved by elimination of a separate high-voltage-to-low-voltage (HV-to-LV) step-down converter in the conventional xEV architecture.

Chapter 2

Stability of the Modular BMS with Distributed Control of the Series-Input-Parallel-Output Converter System

A modular active balancing BMS incorporating vehicle low votage (LV) bus has been proposed in [13]. The system adopts a series-input-parallel-output converter architecture, shown in 1.6. In the system, each cell in the battery string is connected to the vehicle LV bus through a modular isolated dc-dc converter. The converters not only perform cell-level active balancing, but also supply power to the auxiliary loads on the vehicle LV bus. High speed balancing is achieved as energy is directly transferred among the target cells, without the need of shuttling through adjacent cells. Different from the BMS using step-up converters in Fig. 1.4 (a), the modular BMS in Fig. 1.6 does not require any high-voltage (HV) devices. Both the input and output ports of the modular converter are connected to low-voltage (LV) sources — the lithium-ion cell and the vehicle LV bus. Using only LV devices, the converter system replaces the conventional kW-level HV-to-LV step-down converter in xEV. The kWlevel power conversion from the battery pack HV output to the vehicle LV bus is achieved by the low-power LV-to-LV modular converters.

As there are a large number of converters in the system, practically controlling the system with good stability and robustness becomes a challenge. Central control relies on communication, and is therefore not practical for time-critical closed-loop regulation. Any latency or signal drops on the communication bus could easily cause stability problems or even compromise system safety. Moreover, with a central controller, performance of the





Figure 2.1: Active balancing with series-input-parallel-output converter system in (a) photovoltaic (PV) application; (b) xEV application.

converter system becomes highly dependent on the communication speed, which in most cases would be adversely affected by number of the converters, thus limiting scalability of the system.

Autonomous control increases system performance and robustness, as no communication is required for time critical control. For a practical strategy, the local controller should only access local converter variables such as its input/output current/voltage. In addition, the algorithm must be simple enough to be implemented on a low-cost microcontroller, and the computational effort for each local converter should not increase with the total number of converters in the system.

Automatic balancing could be achieved by distributed bus voltage regulation where each converter regulates the bus voltage autonomously Depending on the form of the transfer function of the bus voltage loop, the compensator can be as simple as a standard proportional-integral (PI) controller. A key to achieve automatic balancing is that the reference for each voltage regulation loop should be dictated by the balancing objective. For example, in SOC balancing, the bus voltage reference can be mapped from the estimated cell SOC. In system steady state, the bus voltage equals the reference. As all the converters share the same bus voltage, the balancing targets also equal to each other. In another words, the bus not only processes the power for balancing, but also serves as a common reference for the balancing targets. As a result, balancing is naturally achieved through distributed bus voltage regulation. This concept was firstly developed in [43, 52] for photovoltaic (PV) cell balancing. The first attempts to apply a similar approach to xEV lithium-ion batteries was presented in [13,67], as shown in Fig. 2.1 (a). As already mentioned, different from PV application, a significant benefit in xEV applications is that the converter system can also supply auxiliary loads in the vehicle and thus eliminate the need for the HV-to-LV step-down converter.

While the control strategy successfully balances photovoltaic cells, stability issues develop when the same approach is applied to lithium-ion batteries. The major focus of this chapter is in analyzing stability of the modular BMS with series-input-parallel-output converter system. The analysis is done in a design-oriented manner to enable simple design of the distributed loop compensators. The work has been presented in a conference paper [68] using slightly different terminology. The rest of the chapter is organized as follows: Section 2.1 describes the original design process of the bus voltage regulation and introduces the instability issues in SOC balancing. Section 2.2 reveals the reasons for the instability by analysis of the SOC control loop. An intuitive loop-gain analysis is developed to help understand the problem. Section 2.3 provides a more comprehensive loop-gain analysis, and



Figure 2.2: System model used in bus voltage regulation design.



Figure 2.3: Isolated dc-dc with dual-active-bridge (DAB).

a second-order simplified form of the SOC loop-gain is given. The simplified form is used in the compensator design. Section 2.4 summarizes the chapter.

2.1 Automatic Balancing with Distributed Bus Voltage Regulation

First, system model used in bus voltage regulation design is introduced. The system model is shown in Fig. 2.2. A battery string with n cells in series is considered. Both the drivetrain and the LV bus load are modeled as constant current sources I_{drv} and I_{aux} , respectively. As the terminal voltage of a battery cell does not change significantly during bus

voltage regulation, the battery cell is thus modeled as a constant voltage source. Regarding the isolated dc-dc converter, dual-active-bridge (DAB) converter with phase-shift modulation is employed. The DAB topology is shown in Fig. 2.3. Without going through details of the converter operation, which will be discussed in the next chapter, the steady-state model of the converter is given as follows:

$$I_{in} = \langle i_{in} \rangle = \frac{V_{out}}{2\pi n_T f_s L} (\Phi - sign(\Phi) \frac{\Phi^2}{\pi})$$

$$I_{out} = \langle i_{out} \rangle = \frac{V_{in}}{2\pi n_T f_s L} (\Phi - sign(\Phi) \frac{\Phi^2}{\pi})$$
(2.1)

where V_{in} and V_{out} represent the DC input and output voltage, respectively, n_T is the transformer turns ratio, L is the tank inductance, f_s is the converter switching frequency, and phase-shift Φ is the control input of the converter. In a typical design, the phase-shift, represented as an angle, is much smaller than 2π . As a result, the higher order term in Eq. (2.1) is small enough to be neglected in analysis, and an approximated DAB steady-state equation is given by Eq. (2.2):

$$I_{in} \approx \frac{V_{out}}{2\pi n_T f_s L} \Phi$$

$$I_{out} \approx \frac{V_{in}}{2\pi n_T f_s L} \Phi$$
(2.2)

The small signal model is derived by linearizing Eq. (2.2), as shown in Eq. (2.3):

$$\hat{i}_{in} = \frac{V_{out}}{2\pi n_T f_s L} \hat{\varphi} + \frac{\Phi}{2\pi n_T f_s L} \hat{v}_{out} \approx \frac{V_{out}}{2\pi n_T f_s L} \hat{\varphi} = K_{DABi} \hat{\varphi}$$
$$\hat{i}_{out} = \frac{V_{in}}{2\pi n_T f_s L} \hat{\varphi} + \frac{\Phi}{2\pi n_T f_s L} \hat{v}_{in} \approx \frac{V_{in}}{2\pi n_T f_s L} \hat{\varphi} = K_{DABo} \hat{\varphi}$$
(2.3)

where K_{DABi} and K_{DABo} are assumed to be identical from unit to unit.

For convenience, small signal variables are represented without hats in the rest of the chapter, \hat{i}_{in} , \hat{i}_{out} , and $\hat{\varphi}$ are written simply as i_{in} , i_{out} , and φ , respectively, but it is understood that the dynamic model equations and frequency responses refer to small-signal perturbations. Eq. (2.3) is then expressed as:

$$i_{in} \approx K_{DABi}\varphi$$
 $i_{out} \approx K_{DABo}\varphi$
(2.4)



Figure 2.4: Unit k in the system, with the voltage loop modeled.



Figure 2.5: Control diagram of bus voltage regulation.

Each cell and its corresponding converter together is referred to as a unit. A unit k is selected for compensator design, the details of which are shown in Fig. 2.4. As all the units have the same converter topology and parameters, unit k is also seen as a virtual unit which represents the average of all the n units in the system. A compensator for bus voltage regulation is designed based on the model of the virtual unit. The compensator is then implemented on each physical unit in practice. A standard proportional-integral (PI) controller with the form shown in Eq. (2.5) is used:

$$G_C = K_p + \frac{K_i}{s} \tag{2.5}$$

The reference of the voltage regulation in each unit comes from mapping the SOC of the cell



Figure 2.6: Loop-gain Bode plot for the bus voltage loop.

in the unit:

$$V_{map,k} = K_{map}SOC_k + constant \tag{2.6}$$

If all the converters are in linear operating mode without hitting any current or voltage limits, the bus voltage value represents the average value of the balancing target. With the unit model in Fig. 2.4, the control diagram of bus voltage regulation is shown in Fig. 2.5, and corresponding loop-gain transfer function is given by Eq. (2.7):

$$T_{v} = G_{c} K_{DABo} \frac{1}{C_{out} s} = \frac{K_{i} K_{DABo} (1 - \frac{K_{p}}{K_{i}} s)}{C_{out} s^{2}}$$
(2.7)

The Bode plot of the loop-gain in Eq. (2.7) is given in Fig. 2.6. The PI controller parameters are selected so that the crossover frequency of the voltage loop is at about 100 Hz.

The design is examined with a small battery system consisting of 3 units. The battery string current is 0 and the LV bus current is constant at 3 A. The converter input current is limited in a range from 0 A to 10 A. Simulation results are shown in Fig. 2.7. While the PI controller successfully regulates the bus voltage, slow cell current oscillations with large amplitude can be observed in the SOC balancing process.



Figure 2.7: Converter input current oscillation.

2.2 SOC Control Loop

As an energy storage device, the SOC of a lithium-ion battery cell slowly varies during cycling, i.e. during charging and discharging. In Section 2.1, the SOC dynamic was considered to be so slow that it was neglected. The assumption is not problematic for the voltage loop-gain compensator design, and the simulation results in Fig. 2.7 confirm stability of the bus voltage regulation loop. However, automatic SOC balancing does not work as expected. The converter input current oscillations not only prevent the system from reaching a balanced state, but also significantly reduce efficiency in practice as large amounts of energy are unnecessarily transferred back and forth through the converters. In addition to voltage loop compensation, the stability of the balancing loop must be analyzed taking the slow SOC loop dynamics into consideration. It should be noted that, unlike current or voltage, SOC is not easily measurable in practice. SOC is an internal state of the battery. The information



Figure 2.8: Unit k in the system, with the SOC loop modeled.



Figure 2.9: Control diagram of the SOC loop of unit k.

of SOC is usually obtained based on cell current, cell voltage, and cell temperature, which is known as SOC estimation. The SOC estimation process is discussed in more detail in Chapter 4. In this chapter it is assumed that the estimated SOC equals to the true SOC of the battery cell. In addition, it is also assumed that all the cells have identical total capacity of the nominal value. The SOC of cell k is thus expressed as:

$$SOC_k = SOC_{init,k} + \frac{1}{Q_{tot}} \int i_{cell,k} dt$$
 (2.8)

in which Q_{tot} represents the total capacity of the battery cell. $SOC_{init,k}$ is the initial SOC value at the beginning of current integration.

The small signal model of Eq. (2.8) is shown in Eq. (2.9):

$$SOC_k = \frac{1}{Q_{tot}s} i_{cell,k} \tag{2.9}$$

With the slow SOC dynamics taken into account, an SOC loop is modeled in unit k, as shown in Fig. 2.8. For a preliminary analysis of the SOC loop in unit k, the bus voltage is considered perfectly regulated by the other units in the system. In practice, the more converters in the system, the less unit k affects the bus voltage. As converter number approaches infinity, unit k and the bus voltage become completely decoupled. Thus the bus voltage can be modeled approximately as a constant voltage source for the analysis of the SOC loop. Under the extreme condition with perfectly regulated bus voltage, a simple SOC loop model is shown in Fig. 2.9, with the loop-gain transfer function given by Eq. (2.10).

$$T_{soc} = G_c K_{DABi} \frac{1}{Q_{tot} s} K_{map} = \frac{K_i K_{DABi} K_{map} (1 - \frac{K_p}{K_i} s)}{Q_{tot} s^2}$$
(2.10)

The loop-gain of the SOC loop has the same pole and zero as the loop-gain of the voltage loop in Eq. (2.7). However, the DC gain of the SOC loop gain is much smaller, predominately due to the fact that the battery cell total capacity value is commonly much larger than the converter output capacitor value. With the same pole and zero but much smaller DC gain, the SOC loop crossover frequency is much lower than the bus voltage loop. As the PI parameters are specifically designed for the bus voltage loop in Eq. (2.7), the SOC loop in Eq. (2.10) exhibits nearly zero phase margin, causing instability and converter input current oscillations in the presence of even slight loop delays.

2.3 Comprehensive Analysis of the SOC Control Loop

In Section 2.2, a preliminary analysis is given to help understand the nature of the instability and the oscillating converter currents. However, the bus voltage is considered constant by assuming that an infinite number of units in the system perform bus voltage



Figure 2.10: System model used in comprehensive SOC loop analysis.



Figure 2.11: Comprehensive SOC loop analysis.
24

Parameter	Expression
T_0	$(n-1) + \frac{K_{DABi}K_{map}nC_{out}}{K_{DABo}}$
a_1	$\frac{2K_p}{K_i}$
a_2	$\frac{K_p^2}{K_i^2} + \frac{n}{K_i} \left(\frac{C_{out}}{K_{DABo}} + \frac{1}{K_{DABi}K_{map}}\right)$
a_3	$\frac{K_p n}{K_i^2} \left(\frac{C_{out}}{K_{DABo}} + \frac{1}{K_{DABi} K_{map}}\right)$
a_4	$\frac{nC_{out}}{K_i^2 K_{DABi} K_{DABo} K_{map}}$
b_1	$\frac{K_p}{K_i}$
b_2	$\frac{K_p}{K_i}$
b_3	$\frac{nC_{out}}{K_i(K_{DABo}(n-1) + K_{DABi}K_{map}nC_{out})}$

Table 2.1: Parameters in Eq. (2.11)

regulation together. In a more practical scenario, there is a certain finite number of converters in the system. Thus bus voltage variation should be considered. A new system model is given in Fig. 2.10. There are three parts in the system. When the SOC loop of unit k is being examined, the other units are also modeled as a virtual unit replicated n - 1 times. Different from Fig. 2.2 in voltage loop design, the output capacitors of all the converters are modeled together on the LV bus. The control diagram of the entire system is shown in Fig. 2.11.

The SOC loop-gain of unit k is derived by merging Loop: SOC_v , Loop: $v_{out,v}$, Loop: $v_{out,k}$, and Loop: SOC_k one by one into each other, resulting in a high-order transfer function with parameters given in Table 2.1:

$$T_{soc,k} = T_0 \frac{(1+b_1s)(1+b_2s+b_3s^2)}{1+a_1s+a_2s^2+a_3s^3+a_4s^4}$$
(2.11)



Figure 2.12: Introduction to additional droop control in unit k.

Considering the fact that the SOC loop bandwidth is much lower than the bus voltage loop bandwidth, high frequency dynamics from the bus voltage loop can be neglected. Eq. (2.11) is thus simplified to a second-order transfer function:

$$T_{soc} = (n-1)\frac{1}{1 + \frac{K_p}{K_i}s + \frac{nQ_{tot}}{K_iK_{DABi}K_{map}}s^2}$$
(2.12)

As the number of converter approaches infinity, Eq. (2.12) becomes:

$$T_{soc} = \frac{K_i K_{DABi} K_{map}}{Q_{tot} s^2} \tag{2.13}$$

Eq. (2.13) is almost the same as Eq. (2.10) in the frequency range of interest. The zero $1 + K_p s/K_i$ in the PI controller is neglected in Eq. (2.13) though, as the zero is out of the frequency range of interest. In other words, as the the PI zero is designed for the bus voltage loop, the zero is in the high frequency range and does not have much effect on the SOC loop stability. As a result, the SOC loop cannot be stabilized by tuning PI parameters.

Based on the analysis above, a method using droop control to compensate the SOC loop has been proposed in [68], a result of collaboration with researchers at the Utah Power

Parameter	Expression
T_0	$(n-1) + \frac{K_{DABi}K_{map}nC_{out}}{K_{DABo}}$
a_1	$\frac{2K_p}{K_i} + \frac{nR_{drp}}{K_{map}} \left(1 + \frac{K_{DABi}K_{map}C_{out}}{K_{DABo}}\right)$
a_2	$\frac{K_p^2}{K_i^2} + \frac{n}{K_i} \left(\frac{C_{out}}{K_{DABo}} + \frac{1}{K_{DABi}K_{map}}\right) \\ + \frac{nR_{drp}}{K_{map}} \left(\frac{2K_p}{K_i} \left(1 + \frac{K_{DABi}K_{map}C_{out}}{K_{DABo}}\right) + \frac{K_{DABi}C_{out}R_{drp}}{K_{DABo}}\right)$
a_3	$\frac{K_p n}{K_i^2} \left(\frac{C_{out}}{K_{DABo}} + \frac{1}{K_{DABi}K_{map}}\right) + \frac{nR_{drp}}{K_i^2} \left(\frac{K_p^2}{K_i^2}\left(1 + \frac{K_{DABi}K_{map}C_{out}}{K_{DABo}}\right) + \frac{2C_{out}\left(1 + K_{DABi}K_pR_{drp}\right)}{K_{DABo}K_i}\right)$
a_4	$\frac{nC_{out}(1+K_{DABi}K_pR_{drp})}{K_i^2K_{DABi}K_{DABo}K_{map}}$
b_1	$\frac{K_p}{K_i}$
b_2	$\frac{K_p}{K_i} + \frac{K_{DABi}R_{drp}nC_{out}}{K_{DABo}(n-1) + K_{DABi}K_{map}nC_{out}}$
b_3	$\frac{(1 + K_{DABi}K_pR_{drp})nC_{out}}{K_i(K_{DABo}(n-1) + K_{DABi}K_{map}nC_{out})}$

Table 2.2: Parameters in Eq. (2.11), with Droop Control

Electronics Lab (UPEL). The droop control works simultaneously with the original PI regulator, as shown in Fig. 2.12. The converter input current goes through a virtual droop resistance R_{drp} , the virtual voltage drop is then subtracted from the original reference mapped from the cell SOC, the result of which becomes the new reference for the bus voltage regulation. With droop control, a new SOC loop-gain diagram is shown in Fig. 2.13. The SOC loop gain transfer function has the same form as Eq. (2.13), but the new expressions for the parameters are shown in Table 2.2.

Again, by considering the fact that the SOC loop bandwidth is much lower than the bus voltage loop bandwidth, high frequency dynamics from the bus voltage loop are neglected.



Figure 2.13: Comprehensive SOC loop analysis with droop control.

Eq. (2.11) is thus simplified to a second-order transfer function:

$$T_{soc} = (n-1) \frac{1}{1 + (\frac{K_p}{K_i} + \frac{nR_{drp}}{K_{map}})s + \frac{nQ_{tot}}{K_i K_{DABi} K_{map}} s^2}$$
(2.14)

One may observe that the SOC loop is compensated through the virtual droop resistance. With Eq. (2.14), the value of the droop resistance can be quickly calculated. The stability is examined on a battery system consists of three units. The Bode plot of the SOC



Figure 2.14: SOC loop loop-gain Bode plot with different droop resistance.



Figure 2.15: 3-cell system with $R_{drp} = 6.4 \,\mathrm{m}\Omega$, (a) simulation results; (b) experimental results (experiment done by Mr. M. Muneeb Ur Rehman, Utah Power Electronics Lab, Utah State University).

loop loop-gain of unit k with different droop resistance is shown in Fig. 2.14. As droop resistance increases, the phase margin of the SOC loop improves. However the crossover frequency becomes lower, indicating slower balancing speed. In the battery system with 3 units, $6.4 \text{ m}\Omega$ is chosen to achieve both stable system operation and high balancing speed. The simulation and experimental results are shown in Fig. 2.15 (a) and Fig. 2.15 (b), respectively.

2.4 Summary

This chapter analyzes stability of the modular BMS with distributed controlled seriesinput-parallel-output converters. It is found that in lithium-ion battery cell balancing, the SOC loop results in system instability and converter current oscillations. The SOC loop also shares the PI controller designed for voltage loop compensation. As the bandwidth of the SOC loop is much lower than the bandwidth of the bus voltage regulation loop, tuning PI parameters cannot be used to stabilize the SOC loop without significantly sacrificing voltage regulation performance. An alternative method, such as droop control, must be used to compensate the SOC loop. A simplified second-order transfer function of the SOC loop is derived, which allows simple design of the SOC loop compensator, and the results are verified by simulations and experiments.

Chapter 3

Improved Steady-State Model of the Dual-Active-Bridge Converter

In the previous chapter, stability of the modular BMS with series-input-parallel-output converter system is examined. In the system, dual-active-bridge (DAB) converter is used as the isolated dc-dc converter module. This chapter focuses on steady-state modeling of the DAB converter. The conventional DAB model is described and motivation for development of an improved DAB model is then presented.

The DAB converter with phase-shift modulation was developed in early 1990s [16, 32]. The topology of the DAB converter is shown in Figure 3.1. It consists of two full bridges, a transformer, and a series tank inductor L. In phase-shift modulation, the two full bridges are both switching at 50 % duty cycle, and the phase-shift φ between the two bridges controls the converter power flow. DAB advantages include low RMS current stresses, low input and output current ripples, capability of zero-voltage switching (ZVS) in both bridges, and bidirectional power flow. Numerous prior works have been devoted to DAB static and dynamic modeling, as well as power-stage design and efficiency optimization in various applications [16, 22, 32, 36, 37, 50, 53, 54] Considering an ideal circuit model, the basic steady-state characteristics of the DAB converter are obtained by averaging over a switching period and are given in [32], where the symbols in the equations are defined in Table 3.1:

$$I_{in} = \langle i_{in} \rangle = \frac{V_{out}}{2\pi n_T f_s L} (\varphi - sign(\varphi) \frac{\varphi^2}{\pi})$$

$$I_{out} = \langle i_{out} \rangle = \frac{V_{in}}{2\pi n_T f_s L} (\varphi - sign(\varphi) \frac{\varphi^2}{\pi})$$
(3.1)



Figure 3.1: Topology of the dual-active-bridge (DAB) converter.



Figure 3.2: DAB switching waveforms with phase-shift modulation.

Note that the input dc current is a function of the phase-shift and the output voltage, and is ideally not affected by the input voltage at all. Similarly, the output dc current is a function of the phase-shift and the input voltage, and is not affected by the output voltage

Symbol	Definition
V_{in}	Converter dc input voltage (V)
V_{out}	Converter dc output voltage (V)
v_{pri}	Tank input voltage (V)
v_{sec}^{\prime}	Tank output voltage (V)
v_{sec}	Tank output voltage on transformer secondary-side (V)
I_{in}	Converter dc input current (A)
I_{out}	Converter dc output current (A)
i_{in}	Converter input current (A)
i_{out}	Converter output current (A)
i_L	Tank current (A)
n_T	Transformer turns ratio
L	Tank inductance (H)
f_s	Switching frequency (Hz)
T_s	Switching period (s): $T_s = 1/f_s$
t_{arphi}	Phase-shift time (s)
arphi	Phase-shift angle (rad): $\varphi = 2\pi t_{\varphi} f_s$

Table 3.1: Symbol Definition

at all. The ideal steady-state model in Eq. (3.1) is well known and has successfully been used in many DAB applications. The work reported in this thesis is motivated by cases where it is found that DAB steady-state characteristics may significantly depart from the ideal steady-state model in Eq. (3.1). Consider, as an example, a DAB prototype shown in Fig. 3.3, with the parameters given in Table 3.2, which correspond to the converter parameters in the modular BMS discussed in the previous chapter. This is a relatively highfrequency, relatively low-power prototype where the tank inductance L is based entirely on the transformer leakage inductance, and is relatively small in value [13,67]. Fig. 3.4 compares the steady-state characteristics predicted by Eq. (3.1) with the characteristics measured in



Figure 3.3: DAB prototype designed for the modular active balancing BMS.



Figure 3.4: Mismatch between the ideal model in Eq. 3.1 and the experimental results with the DAB prototype: (a) I_{in} vs. V_{in} ($t_{\varphi} = 30$ ns, $V_{out} = 14.0$ V); (b) I_{in} vs. V_{out} ($t_{\varphi} = 35$ ns, $V_{in} = 4.0$ V).

the experimental prototype. Note that the measured dc input current depends very strongly on both the dc input voltage and the dc output voltage. The deviations with respect to the ideal model in Eq. (3.1) are very significant. One may note that not even the slope of $I_{in}(V_{out})$ is predicted correctly by the ideal model.

A number of more detailed static and dynamic models have been developed for the DAB converter. For example, details of DAB converter losses are analyzed in [36, 54, 74], while [65] develops a generalized current averaging model targeting high-frequency dynamics. It has further been found that static and dynamic effects of zero-voltage switching become

\mathbf{Symbol}	Definition
f_s	$200\mathrm{kHz}$
V_{in}	$2.5 \mathrm{V}$ - $4.1 \mathrm{V}$
V_{out}	10 V - 16 V
n_T	1:4
L	$\approx 30\mathrm{nH}$
R	$\approx 30\mathrm{m}\Omega$
Peak efficiency	94%
Maximum power rating	$40\mathrm{W}$
Deadtime	$16.7\mathrm{ns}$

Table 3.2: DAB Prototype

significant when the switching frequency is relatively high so that ZVS transitions take significant portions of a switching period [14, 15]. None of the prior works, however, have pointed to or explained the potential substantial discrepancies in steady-state characteristics exemplified in Fig. 3.4. The objectives of this chapter are to explain limitations of the basic ideal steady-state model Eq. (3.1), and to introduce an improved steady-state model capable of more accurately predicting DAB converter steady-state characteristics. A new method to derive the steady-state equations is developed in Section 3.1. An improved DAB steady-state model is then derived in Section 3.2, where it is shown that conduction losses and the time constant associated with the tank inductor play major roles in the converter steady-state characteristics. Experimental results demonstrating improved model predictions are given in Section 3.3, and a chapter summary is presented in Section 3.4.

3.1 A New Approach to Derivation of DAB Steady-State Model

Conventionally the ideal DAB steady-state equations in Eq. (3.1) are derived by analyzing the waveforms in Fig. 3.2. The corner points I_a and I_b in the waveforms of i_L are solved:

$$I_{b} = -I_{a} + \frac{1}{L} \int_{t_{0}}^{t_{1}} (v_{pri} - v'_{sec}) dt = -I_{a} + \frac{1}{L} \int_{0}^{t_{\varphi}} (V_{in} + \frac{V_{out}}{n_{T}}) dt$$

$$I_{a} = I_{b} + \frac{1}{L} \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} (v_{pri} - v'_{sec}) dt = I_{b} + \frac{1}{L} \int_{t_{\varphi}}^{\frac{T_{s}}{2}} (V_{in} - \frac{V_{out}}{n_{T}}) dt$$
(3.2)

Then the dc values of i_{in} and i_{out} are calculated by averaging the waveform over half switching period, which gives Eq. (3.1). The method is straightforward. However it does not give intuitive insights into the form of the dc model expressions.

A new method to derive DAB steady-state equation is developed in this section. Consider the DAB tank inductor in Fig. 3.5 (a) as a linear system. The primary-side voltage v_{pri} and the secondary-side voltage v_{sec} are two independent inputs. The difference of the two inputs is then integrated to generate the inductor current i_L , which is the output of the system. Using superposition, the inductor current can be decomposed into two components:

$$i_{L,1} = \frac{1}{L} \int v_{pri} dx$$

$$i_{L,2} = \frac{1}{L} \int v'_{sec} dx$$

$$i_{L} = i_{L,1} + i_{L,2}$$
(3.3)

The component $i_{L,1}$ is only affected by the tank primary-side voltage, while $i_{L,2}$ is only affected by the tank secondary side voltage. Since the duty cycle of both bridges is 50 %, v_{pri} is simply a square-wave waveform with magnitude equal to V_{in} ; similarly, v_{sec} is a squarewave with magnitude equal to V_{out} . Both the current component waveform are triangular. Adding the two components results in the familiar DAB tank inductor current waveform shown in Fig. 3.6. The corresponding input and output current waveforms of each inductor current component can be found as shown in Fig. 3.7. From Fig. 3.7 (a), it follows that the input port voltage does not affect the input port current since the waveform of $i_{in,1}$ is symmetrical along the time axis, the area S_p above the time axis and the area S_n below the time axis equals to each other. The input port current is then decided by $i_{in,2}$ only and can easily be calculated by measuring the area S_e of the waveform in Fig. 3.7 (b). This approach



Figure 3.5: (a) Ideal DAB tank model; (b) superposition: primary-side source; (c) superposition: secondary-side source.



Figure 3.6: Superposition of the ideal DAB tank current waveform.

provides a new way to derive the ideal model equations given by Eq. (3.3). The advantage of this analysis approach will become clear as it leads to extensions necessary to derive an improved steady-state model in the next section.

3.2 Derivation of Improved DAB Steady-State Model

In this section, the analysis method of Section 3.1 is applied to the tank shown in Fig. 3.8, where a lumped series resistance R models series conduction losses due to switch on-resistances, tank and transformer resistances. In high-frequency switched-mode power converters, inclusion of conduction losses typically results in relatively small, second-order



Figure 3.7: Ideal tank waveform for (a) superposition: primary-side source; (b) superposition: secondary-side source.

deviations with respect to converter ideal stead-state characteristics. In this section, it is shown that this is not the case for the DAB converter: even relatively small conduction losses can have profound effects on the steady-state characteristics.

With the lossy tank impedance model in Fig. 3.8, the inductor current waveform becomes distorted, as shown in Fig. 3.9. The deviation with respect to the ideal i_L waveform of Fig. 3.6 depends on the ratio of the tank time constant $\tau = L/R$ and the switching period T_s :

$$\delta = \frac{\tau}{T_s} = \frac{Lf_s}{R} \tag{3.4}$$

Following the analysis method of Section 3.2, the component waveform for the lossy tank are shown in Fig. 3.7. Note that averaging $i_{in,1}$ over $T_s/2$ does not equal to 0 anymore, which means that the dc input current is indeed affected by the input voltage, as seen in the experimental results shown in Fig. 3.4. Averaging waveforms in Fig. 3.10 (a) and (b) for a



Figure 3.8: (a) Lossy DAB tank model; (b) superposition: primary-side source; (c) superposition: secondary-side source.



Figure 3.9: DAB tank current waveform with conduction loss.

DAB converter with transformer turns ratio n_T yields:

$$< i_{in,1} >= \frac{2}{T_s} \int_0^{\frac{T_s}{2}} i_{in,1} dt = \frac{V_{in}}{R} (1 - K)$$

$$< i_{out,1} >= \frac{2}{T_s} \int_0^{\frac{T_s}{2}} i_{out,1} dt = \frac{V_{in}}{n_T R} (1 - f_o(\varphi))$$
(3.5)

$$< i_{in,2} >= \frac{2}{T_s} \int_0^{\frac{T_s}{2}} i_{in,2} dt = \frac{V_{out}}{n_T R} (f_i(\varphi) - 1)$$

$$< i_{out,2} >= \frac{2}{T_s} \int_0^{\frac{T_s}{2}} i_{out,2} dt = \frac{V_{out}}{n_T^2 R} (K - 1)$$

(3.6)

where the parameters are summarized in Table 3.3. By adding Eq. (3.5) and Eq. (3.6), the new improved steady-state model is obtained:

$$I_{in} = \langle i_{in} \rangle = \langle i_{in,1} \rangle + \langle i_{in,2} \rangle = \frac{V_{in}}{R} (1 - K) + \frac{V_{out}}{n_T R} (f_i(\varphi) - 1)$$

$$I_{out} = \langle i_{out} \rangle = \langle i_{out,1} \rangle + \langle i_{out,2} \rangle = \frac{V_{in}}{n_T R} (1 - f_o(\varphi)) + \frac{V_{out}}{n_T^2 R} (K - 1)$$
(3.7)



Figure 3.10: Lossy tank waveform for (a) superposition: primary-side source; (b) superposition: secondary-side source.

Parameter	Value
f_s	$\frac{1}{f_s}$
au	$rac{L}{R}$
δ	$rac{ au}{T_s}$
K	$4\delta \frac{1 - e^{\frac{-1}{2\delta}}}{1 + e^{\frac{-1}{2\delta}}}$
$f_i(arphi)$	$\frac{2 \varphi }{\pi} + 4sign(\varphi)\delta \frac{e^{\frac{1}{4\delta}} - 2e^{-\frac{sign(\varphi)}{4\delta} + \frac{\varphi}{2\pi\delta}} + e^{-\frac{1}{4\delta}}}{e^{\frac{1}{4\delta}} + e^{-\frac{1}{4\delta}}}$
$f_o(arphi)$	$\frac{2 \varphi }{\pi} - 4sign(\varphi)\delta \frac{e^{\frac{1}{4\delta}} - 2e^{\frac{sign(\varphi)}{4\delta} - \frac{\varphi}{2\pi\delta}} + e^{-\frac{1}{4\delta}}}{e^{\frac{1}{4\delta}} + e^{-\frac{1}{4\delta}}}$

Table 3.3: Parameters in the Improved DAB Steady-State Model



Figure 3.11: Steady-state DAB characteristics based on the improved model in Eq. (3.7) with different tank resistance R: (a) I_{in} vs. V_{in} ($t_{\varphi} = 0$ ns, $V_{out} = 14.0$ V); (b) I_{in} vs. V_{out} ($t_{\varphi} = 0$ ns, $V_{in} = 4.0$ V). DAB parameters are as shown in Table 3.2.

From Eq. (3.7), it follows that dc current at each port of the converter is always proportional to the voltage at the same port, with the slope decided by the conduction loss parameter R and the tank coefficient δ . Given the tank inductance value in Table 3.2, the input current as a function of input and output voltage with loss resistance R as a parameter is shown in Fig. 3.11. In addition, the new steady-state model Eq. (3.7) is also able to predict the fact that when φ is such that $f_i(\varphi) < 1$, the input current becomes inversely proportional to the output voltage, as exemplified in the experimental results of Fig. 3.4 (b). One may note remarkably strong dependence of steady-state characteristics on conduction losses, even when R is relatively small.

Eq. (3.7), which provide a more accurate steady-state model for a DAB converter, are more complex and not easily applicable in design. Unlike the simple form of the ideal steadystate equations in Eq. (3.1), variables and parameters in Eq. (3.7) are highly coupled and dependences are not easily observed. Intuitively, when the tank inductance is large enough, i.e. when δ is large enough, the ideal tank model and the simple steady-state equations in Eq. (3.1) should provide an accurate approximation for the converter characteristics. In the limit, when conduction loss resistance tends to zero, the improved model Eq. (3.7) should reduce to Eq. (3.1). The objective of the analysis that follows is to simplify Eq. (3.7) to an approximate form better suited for design purposes, and to allow more intuitive interpretation of dependence in the DAB converter steady-state characteristics.

In Eq. (3.1), the steady-state input and output currents are second-order functions of the phase-shift φ . In order to bring Eq. (3.7) to a similar form, Taylors series expansion is applied to Eq. (3.7):

$$I = f(0) + f'(0)\varphi + \frac{f''(0)}{2!}\varphi^2 + \dots$$
(3.8)

Taking only the first three terms into account, and neglecting higher order terms, an approximate form of the improved model Eq. (3.7) is obtained in Eq. (3.9), where the coefficients in the equations are defined in Table 3.4 and plotted in Fig. 3.12 as functions of the parameter δ . One may note that the approximation Eq. (3.9) to the improved model Eq. (3.7) has a form very similar to the simple ideal steady-state equations Eq. (3.1).

$$I_{in} = \frac{V_{in}}{2\pi f_s L} K_0 + \frac{V_{out}}{2\pi n_T f_s L} (-K_0 + K_1 \varphi - K_{2i} sign(\varphi) \frac{\varphi^2}{\pi})$$

$$I_{out} = \frac{V_{in}}{2\pi n_T f_s L} (K_0 + K_1 \varphi - K_{2o} sign(\varphi) \frac{\varphi^2}{\pi}) - \frac{V_{out}}{2\pi n_T^2 f_s L} K_0$$
(3.9)

The coefficients K_0 decides how strongly the same-port voltage affects the port current. In the ideal model Eq. (3.1), $K_0 = 0$. With $K_0 \neq 0$, it should be noted that a phase-shift $\varphi = 0$ does not necessarily result in zero current. The power flow at $\varphi = 0$ can in fact be significant, as shown in Fig. 3.13. This may have important implications in the system design around the DAB converter. For example, start-up operation with the phase-shift initialized to zero may result in unexpected start-up dynamics. Furthermore, to limit the current in a DAB converter, a common approach is to set a limit for the phase-shift φ . However, if the limit is calculated based on Eq. (3.1), the actual current in the DAB converter may go well above the expected value.

Parameter	Value
K_0	$2\pi\delta - 8\pi\delta^2 \frac{1 - e^{\frac{-1}{2\delta}}}{1 + e^{\frac{-1}{2\delta}}}$
K_1	$4\delta \frac{1-e^{\frac{-1}{2\delta}}}{1+e^{\frac{-1}{2\delta}}}$
K_{2i}	$(\frac{e^{-\frac{1}{4\delta}-sign(\varphi)\frac{1}{4\delta}}}{1+e^{\frac{-1}{2\delta}}})^{ sign(\varphi) }$
K_{2o}	$(\frac{e^{-\frac{1}{4\delta}+sign(\varphi)\frac{1}{4\delta}}}{1+e^{\frac{-1}{2\delta}}})^{ sign(\varphi) }$

Table 3.4: Parameters in the Simplified Improved DAB Steady-State Model

The coefficient K_1 affects dynamic characteristics of the DAB converter. Using the ideal model in Eq. (3.1), DAB control-to-current small signal gains are:

$$\frac{\hat{i}_{in}}{\hat{\varphi}} = \frac{V_{out}}{2\pi n_T f_s L}$$

$$\hat{i}_{out}}{\hat{\varphi}} = \frac{V_{in}}{2\pi n_T f_s L}$$
(3.10)

while the actual gains based on Eq. (3.9) are:

_

$$\frac{\hat{i}_{in}}{\hat{\varphi}} = K_1 \frac{V_{out}}{2\pi n_T f_s L}$$

$$\hat{i}_{out}}{\hat{\varphi}} = K_1 \frac{V_{in}}{2\pi n_T f_s L}$$
(3.11)

A controller optimized based on the ideal steady-state model may not work well in practice if K_1 differs from 1 substantially.

When φ changes, K_2 varies in a range from 0 to 2, which has little impact on the design since the second-order term is usually much smaller than the first-order term.

Fig. 3.12 shows how δ affects the coefficients in Eq. (3.9). For an ideal tank, δ ap-



Figure 3.12: Coefficients for the simplified form of the improved DAB steady-state model in Eq. (3.9) as functions of δ : (a) K_0 , (b) K_1 , (c) K_{2i} , (d) K_{2o} .

proaches infinity. The coefficients in this case are as follows:

$$\lim_{\delta \to \infty} K_0(\delta) = 0$$

$$\lim_{\delta \to \infty} K_1(\delta) = 1$$

$$\lim_{\delta \to \infty} K_{2i}(\delta) = 1$$

$$\lim_{\delta \to \infty} K_{2o}(\delta) = 1$$

(3.12)

and model Eq. (3.9) becomes exactly the same as the ideal steady-state equations

Eq. (3.1). To have a design where the ideal steady-state model can be considered accurate, δ should be sufficiently large. In other words, the equivalent series resistance R should satisfy:

$$R = \frac{Lf_s}{\delta_{lim}} \tag{3.13}$$

where δ_{lim} is a minimum value of the tank coefficient δ , which may be decided based on the plots in Fig. 3.12.

3.3 Experimental Results

This section presents experimental results to verify predictions of the improved steadystate model developed in Section 3.2. The prototype and its corresponding controller are designed to maximize efficiency over an operating range. Furthermore, the series tank inductor consists only of the transformer leakage inductance. Since $\delta \approx 0.2$ in the experimental prototype, the steady-state characteristics are substantially different from the ideal. Two prototype boards have been tested and the testing results are shown in Fig. 3.13. While the ideal model Eq. (3.1) completely fails to match the experimental results, the improved model is able to correctly predict the observed proportionality between the port currents and port voltages. The errors observed can be attributed to the effects dead times, body diode conduction, and switching transitions have on the tank waveform and the resulting steady-state solution. In the prototype, fixed dead-times are applied for both the primary and the secondary side bridges, with zero voltage switching (ZVS) transitions obtained over most of the operating range. After the switch voltage crosses zero, it reverses polarity as the MOSFET body diode temporarily conducts until the MOSFET is turned on. The body diode forward voltage drop V_f in combination with the ZVS transition contribute to additional deviations of the inductor current waveform compared to the ideal, which further affects the steady-state characteristics.



Figure 3.13: Comparison of the ideal model, the improved model, the simulation, and the experimental results with two prototypes: (a) I_{in} vs. V_{in} ($t_{\varphi} = 0$ ns, $V_{out} = 14.0$ V); (b) I_{in} vs. V_{out} ($t_{\varphi} = 0$ ns, $V_{in} = 4.0$ V); (c) I_{in} vs. V_{in} ($t_{\varphi} = 30$ ns, $V_{out} = 14.0$ V); (d) I_{in} vs. V_{out} ($t_{\varphi} = 35$ ns, $V_{in} = 4.0$ V). DAB parameters are as shown in Table 3.2.

3.4 Summary

In this chapter, it is shown that even small conduction losses can have substantial effects on the dual-active bridge (DAB) dc characteristics, especially when the DAB tank inductance is relatively small. A new method is developed to derive the DAB steady-state equations, leading to an improved steady-state model, which correctly predicts DAB dc characteristics. Furthermore, a simplified version of the improved steady-state model is derived, which has a form similar to the ideal model, and which shows how DAB dc characteristics depend on the tank coefficient δ defined as the ratio of the time constant $\tau = L/R$ and the switching period T_s , where R is a conduction loss resistance. In the ideal case, R = 0, $\delta \to \infty$, and the improved model reduces to the ideal DAB dc characteristics. It is shown how the ideal model fails to predict DAB dc characteristics, and that differences in model predictions compared to experimental results can be very large, especially in cases where the DAB series tank inductance is relatively small, i.e., when δ is relatively small. The improved model offers much better predictions of DAB dc characteristics and is validated by simulations and experimental results on the prototype DAB converter used in the modular battery management system.

Chapter 4

Microcontroller Implementation of Lithium-Ion Battery State-of-Charge Estimation

Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 discuss the system stability and the converter modeling of the modular BMS incorporating LV bus regulation. This chapter and the next chapter focus on lithium-ion battery state-of-charge (SOC) and state-of-health (SOH) estimation, respectively.

As introduced in Chapter 1, lithium-ion battery packs are widely used in electric and hybrid electric vehicles (xEV). A typical battery pack consists of a number of cells connected in series, which necessitates a BMS including passive or active cell balancing to fully exploit the cells and prolong the battery life [49,67]. Advanced battery management techniques rely on accurate state-of-charge (SOC) estimation. Various SOC estimation methods have been developed. Simple methods based on current measurement or voltage measurement are used in consumer and portable electronics. The current measurement based method is also referred to as Coulomb counting, in which the battery charge is computed by integrating measured current. While the method provide relative accurate SOC calculation over a short time period, error accumulate due to limited sampling rate and resolution of current measurement and limited knowledge of the change of cell capacity over time. Another group of methods are based on cell voltage measurement, using the terminal voltage and a cell model to calculate cell open-circuit voltage (OCV) and then use OCV to predict SOC based on an OCV(SOC)curve obtained by cell characterization. The voltage based methods are adversely affected by the fact that OCV(SOC) curves of lithoum-ion cells are relatively flat over a wide range of SOC values so that small errors or noise in voltage sensing result in large SOC errors. Overall, simple methods based on only current or voltage measurements fail to provide accurate SOC estimation in the harsh xEV environment with noisy measurements, model uncertainties, and highly dynamic cycling.

To properly estimate SOC in xEV applications, more comprehensive methods employing both cell voltage and cell current measurements have been developed [8, 24, 33, 57–61]. Of particular interest are Kalman filter based approaches [57–61], which have demonstrated excellent performance. The Kalman filter based methods rely on accurate cell modeling. Higher order state-space models make it difficult for Kalman filter based methods to be practically implemented on a low-cost microcontroller. The objectives in this chapter are to develop a simplified Kalman filter estimator and to demonstrate practical implementation of the algorithm on the same microcontroller that performs control functions around the dc-dc converter in the modular cell balancing system shown in Fig. 1.6 and further discussed in [13, 19, 67].

Each cell in the battery pack shown in Fig. 1.6 is connected to an isolated dc-dc converter operating autonomously. The controller around each converter relies on the SOC estimator to generate a control reference, as described in Chapter 2, and in [13, 19, 67].

Section 4.1 reviews three cell equivalent circuit models of varying complexity, together with corresponding discrete-time state-space models. Section 4.2 provides an introduction to SOC estimation using Kalman filtering, and benefits of the sigma-point Kalman filter (SPKF) are discussed. The proposed simplified 1st order SPKF approach is described in Section 4.3. The corresponding microcontroller implementation is presented in Section 4.4, together with experimental results obtained on a twenty-one cell pack based on the system shown in Fig. 1.6. The chapter conclusions are presented in Section 4.5.





(b)



(c)

Figure 4.1: Battery cell equivalent circuit models: (a) simple model; (b) RC model; (c) enhanced-self-correcting (ESC) model.

4.1 Battery Cell Modeling

The SOC estimation methods considered in this work are based on equivalent circuit models of battery cells. An equivalent circuit model is an electric circuit that models the relation between the cell terminal voltage and the cell current for a given state-of-charge (SOC) and temperature. It should be noted that cell equivalent circuit models are behavioral models, which attempt to reproduce the cell electrical characteristics. This section reviews three equivalent circuit models shown in Fig. 4.1 [27, 58].

Fig. 4.1 (a) shows a simple model, which consists of a dependent voltage source OCV in series with a resistor R_0 . The dependent voltage source models the open-circuit voltage (OCV) of the cell, which is a function of the cell SOC, denoted as z, and temperature T.

Model		Equations
Simple	State equation:	$z_k = z_{k-1} + \frac{T_i}{Q_{tot}} i_{cell,k-1}$
	Output equation:	$v_{cell,k} = v_{OCV}(z_k) + R_0 i_{cell,k}$
RC	State equation:	$z_k = z_{k-1} + \frac{T_i}{Q_{tot}} i_{cell,k-1}$
		$v_{f,k} = e^{-\frac{T_i}{R_f C_f}} v_{f,k-1} + R_f (1 - e^{-\frac{T_i}{R_f C_f}}) i_{cell,k-1}$
	Output equation:	$v_{cell,k} = v_{OCV}(z_k) + R_0 i_{cell,k} + v_{f,k}$
ESC	State equation:	$z_k = z_{k-1} + \frac{T_i}{Q_{tot}} i_{cell,k-1}$
		$v_{f,k} = e^{-R_f C_f} v_{f,k-1} + R_f (1 - e^{-R_f C_f}) i_{cell,k-1}$
		$v_{h,k} = e^{-\frac{ i_{cell,k-1} T_i\gamma}{Q_{tot}}} v_{h,k-1}$
		$+M(1-e^{-\frac{ i_{cell,k-1} T_i\gamma}{Q_t ot}})sign(i_{cell,k-1})$
	Output equation:	$v_{cell,k} = \overline{v_{OCV}(z_k) + R_0 i_{cell,k} + v_{f,k} + v_{h,k}}$

Table 4.1: State-Space Forms for Different Cell Equivalent Circuit Models

The OCV vs. SOC curve is different for cells of different chemistry, but is monotonically increasing in general. The OCV vs. SOC characteristics can be measured by cycling the cell at very low current rate at different temperature settings. The characteristic can be expressed in a formula by numerical curve fitting, or as a look-up table. In the model, the cell state-of-charge z, which is the only state in the model of Fig. 4.1 (a), is obtained by integration of the cell current i_{cell} .

In Fig. 4.1 (b), an RC filter is added to the circuit model, which introduces a new state variable v_f to the state-space equations. The RC filter models the diffusion effect in the terminal voltage and thus provides more detailed dynamics compared to the single resistor. The RC filter shown in Fig. 4.1 (b) describes the diffusion effect as a first-order process. A higher-order RC network can be added to model higher-order diffusion dynamics.

Fig. 4.1 (c) shows the enhanced self-correcting (ESC) model [58], including both the diffusion effect v_f and the hysteresis effect v_h in the cells terminal voltage.

Discrete-time state-space forms of the three aforementioned circuit models are shown in Table 4.1 [58]. In the state-space model, T_i is the sampling period, Q_{tot} is the cell total capacity, and z is the cell state-of-charge (SOC).

4.2 SOC Estimation Using Kalman Filter

State estimation is used in cases when the state variable of interest, such as a battery cell SOC, is not directly measurable. Given a system model in state-space form, consisting of a state equation and an output equation, Kalman filtering provides optimal estimation of the probabilistic mean and covariance of the state variables, with uncertainty in measurements and modeling taken into account as process noise ω and sensor noise v in the state equation and the output equation, respectively [30]. The process noise and the sensor noise are assumed to have zero mean.

4.2.1 Introduction to Kalman filter based SOC Estimation

There are two steps in the Kalman filter algorithm. In the first step, which is called a time update, the state vector x is updated using the state equation, in which the *a priori* estimate of the state vector \hat{x}_k^- is a function of its previous *a posteriori* estimate \hat{x}_{k-1}^+ and the previous measured inputs u_{k-1} . The covariance matrix Σ_x of the state vector is also updated based on its previous value and the process noise covariance. In the second step, which is usually called a measurement update, the outputs of the system are found using the output equation and measurement. The error between the estimated and the measured outputs are used to correct the *a priori* estimate obtained in the time update using the Kalman filter gain K. The Kalman filter gain K is optimally calculated by minimizing the trace of the *a posteriori* estimation of the covariance matrix Σ_k^+ [57]. The basic Kalman filter algorithm



Figure 4.2: Kalman filter applied to a higher-order cell model.

is summarized in Table 4.2, where x is the vector of state variables, u is the vector of inputs, y is the vector of outputs, ω and v are the process and the sensor noise, respectively, while Σ represent the corresponding covariance matrix.

The basic Kalman filter applies only to linear system models. Unfortunately, even the simplest cell model shown in Fig. 4.1 (a) is nonlinear, because of the nonlinear OCV(z) characteristic. To apply Kalman filter to nonlinear models, an Extended Kalman filter (EKF) has been developed, with additional linearization steps in the algorithm, as shown in Table 4.3.

Consider the simple cell circuit model of Fig. 4.1 (a). In this case, there is only one state equation and one output equation. All the matrix calculations in the Kalman filter reduce to scalar equations. The state equation in this model updates z = SOC by integrating the cell current, while the output equation describes the output voltage variation. In the EKF time update, the SOC estimate is calculated as:

$$\hat{z}_{k}^{-} = \hat{z}_{k-1}^{+} + \frac{T_{i}}{Q_{tot}} i_{cell,k-1}$$
(4.1)

Table 4.2: Basic Kalman Filter Equations

Parameters:
State equation: $x_k = Ax_{k-1} + Bu_{k-1} + \omega_{k-1}$
Output equation: $y_k = Cx_k + Du_k + v_k$
State vector: $x_k = [x_{1,k}, x_{2,k},, x_{n,k}]^T$
Input vector: $u_k = [u_{1,k}, u_{2,k},, u_{l,k}]^T$
Output vector: $y_k = [y_{1,k}, y_{2,k},, y_{m,k}]^T$
Process noise: $\omega_k = [\omega_{1,k}, \omega_{2,k},, \omega_{m,k}]^T$
Measurement noise: $v_k = [v_{1,k}, v_{2,k},, v_{m,k}]^T$
Time update:
$\Sigma_{x,k}^{-} = A \Sigma_{x,k-1}^{+} A^{T} + \Sigma_{\omega}$
$\hat{x}_{k}^{-} = A\hat{x}_{k-1}^{+} + Bu_{k-1}$
Measurement update:
$\overline{K_{KF,k}} = \Sigma_{x,k}^{-} C^T [C \Sigma_{x,k}^{-} C^T + \Sigma_v]^{-1}$
$\Sigma_{x,k}^+ = (I - K_{KF,k}C)\Sigma_{x,k}^-$
$\hat{y}_k = C\hat{x}_k^- + Du_k$
$\hat{x}_{k}^{+} = \hat{x}_{k}^{-} + K_{KF,k}(y_{k} - \hat{y}_{k})$

which is the same equation that would be used in simple Coulomb counting. In the measurement update, the terminal voltage of the cell is estimated using the output equation:

$$\hat{v}_{cell,k} = v_{ocv}(\hat{z}_k) + R_0 i_{cell,k} \tag{4.2}$$

The terminal voltage is also measured and the error between the measurement $v_{cell,k}$ and the estimate $\hat{v}_{cell,k}$ is used to make a correction in the SOC estimate:

$$\hat{z}_{k}^{+} = \hat{z}_{k}^{-} + K_{k}(v_{cell,k} - \hat{v}_{cell,k})$$
(4.3)

Correction in Eq. (4.3) effectively prevents accumulation of error commonly observed in simple Coulomb counting. It is well known that the simple model in Eq. (4.2) does not accurately represent the cell terminal voltage, especially when the cell is exposed to highly dynamic charging or discharging current. As a result, correction in Eq. (4.3) is compromised, which adversely affects performance of the estimator [7-9]. For better performance, the EKF

 Table 4.3: Extended Kalman Filter Equations

Parameters:
State equation: $x_k = f(x_{k-1}, u_{k-1}) + \omega_{k-1}$
Output equation: $y_k = g(x_k, u_k) + v_k$
State vector: $x_k = [x_{1,k}, x_{2,k},, x_{n,k}]^T$
Input vector: $u_k = [u_{1,k}, u_{2,k},, u_{l,k}]^T$
Output vector: $y_k = [y_{1,k}, y_{2,k},, y_{m,k}]^T$
Process noise: $\omega_k = [\omega_{1,k}, \omega_{2,k},, \omega_{m,k}]^T$
Measurement noise: $v_k = [v_{1,k}, v_{2,k},, v_{m,k}]^T$
Time update:
$\hat{A}_{k-1} = \frac{\partial f(x_{k-1}, u_{k-1})}{\partial x_{k-1}} _{x_{k-1} = \hat{x}_{k-1}^+}$
$\hat{C}_k = rac{\partial g(x_k, u_k)}{\partial x_k} _{x_k = \hat{x}_k^+}$
$\Sigma_{x,k}^{-} = \hat{A} \Sigma_{x,k-1}^{+} \hat{A}^{T} + \Sigma_{\omega}$
$\hat{x}_{k}^{-} = f(\hat{x}_{k-1}^{+}, Bu_{k-1})$
Measurement update:
$\overline{K_{KF,k} = \Sigma_{x,k}^{-} \hat{C}^T [\hat{C} \Sigma_{x,k}^{-} \hat{C}^T + \Sigma_v]^{-1}}$
$\Sigma_{x,k}^+ = (I - K_{KF,k}\hat{C})\Sigma_{x,k}^-$
$\hat{y}_k = g(\hat{x}_k^-, u_k)$
$\hat{x}_{k}^{+} = \hat{x}_{k}^{-} + K_{KF,k}(y_{k} - \hat{y}_{k})$

can be applied to more detailed, higher-order circuit models shown in Fig. 4.1 (b) and Fig. 4.1 (c). The EKF-based SOC estimation algorithm is summarized in the block diagram shown in Fig. 4.2. A further improvement, using the sigma-point Kalman filter (SPKF) is discussed next, based on [60, 61].

4.2.2 SOC Estimation using the Sigma-Point Kalman Filter (SPKF)

In the EKF, the model is linearized through Taylor series expansion under the assumption that the higher order terms are negligible. An improved approach for non-linear systems is the sigma-point Kalman filter (SPKF) [15]. Instead of linearizing the system under assumptions that may not be well justified, the SPKF keeps the non-linear form of the model as is. The SPKF algorithm begins with generating sigma-points of the state variables. Firstly, the state vector and the state covariance are augmented with the process noise and the sensor noise. The augmented state vector $\hat{x}_{k-1}^{a,+}$ is one of the sigma-points, while the rest of the sigma-points are generated by adding each column of the Cholesky decomposition of the augmented state covariance $\sum_{x,k-1}^{a,+}$ to the augmented state vector $\hat{x}_{k-1}^{a,+}$ (or subtracted from). This result in a sigma-point matrix $X_{k-1}^{a,+}$ in which each column is a sigma-point for the state vector. The sigma-points in $X_{k-1}^{a,+}$ are then mapped through the non-linear state equation and output equation, resulting in *a priori* estimation of the state and system output. The new *a priori* estimation of the sigma-points of the state vector are in matrix $X_{k,i}^{x,-}$ and those for the system outputs are in $Y_{k,i}$. These mapping results are then used to calculate the optimized Kalman filter gain K_k . Finally, the estimated mean and covariance of the state variables are the weighted mean and covariance of the new *a posteriori* estimation of the sigma-points. The SPKF algorithm is summarized in Table 4.4, and its very successful applications to SOC estimation using high-order cell models have been described in [60, 61].

4.3 1st-Order SPKF Approach Using Higher-Order Cell Model

An implementational challenge when using nonlinear Kalman filters is that both EKF and SPKF have computational complexity that scales with the cube of the number of states due to the required matrix operations. In SPKF, this includes the necessity of finding the Cholesky decomposition of the state covariance matrix in generating sigma-points. As a result, implementation of the SPKF based on a higher-order cell models is very challenging in the system shown in Fig. 1.6 where the bypass dc-dc controller is preferably based on a low-cost microcontroller. The implementation can be simplified by applying SPKF to the simple, 1st-order cell model of Fig. 4.1 (a), since all matrix computations then become scalar and thus the algorithm complexity is minimized. However, the performance is compromised by inaccuracies introduced by the simple model, as discussed in Section 4.2 4.2.1. The SOC

Table 4.4: Sigma-Point Kalman Filter (SPKF) Equations

Parameters:
State equation: $x_k = f(x_{k-1}, u_{k-1}, \omega_{k-1})$
Output equation: $y_k = g(x_k, u_k, v_k)$
State vector: $x_k = [x_{1,k}, x_{2,k},, x_{n,k}]^T$
Input vector: $u_k = [u_{1,k}, u_{2,k},, u_{l,k}]^T$
Output vector: $y_k = [y_{1,k}, y_{2,k},, y_{m,k}]^T$
Process noise: $\omega_k = [\omega_{1,k}, \omega_{2,k},, \omega_{m,k}]^T$
Measurement noise: $v_k = [v_{1,k}, v_{2,k},, v_{m,k}]^T$
Generating sigma-points:
$\hat{x}_{k-1}^{a,+} = [(\hat{x}_{k-1}^+)^T, (\bar{\omega})^T, (\bar{\upsilon})^T]^T$
$\Sigma_{x,k-1}^{a,+} = diag(\Sigma_{k-1}^+, \Sigma_{\omega}, \Sigma_{\upsilon})$
$X_{k-1}^{a,+} = [\hat{x}_{k-1}^{a,+}, \hat{x}_{k-1}^{a,+} + \eta(\Sigma_{x,k-1}^{a,+})^{\frac{1}{2}}, \hat{x}_{k-1}^{a,+} - \eta(\Sigma_{x,k-1}^{a,+})^{\frac{1}{2}}] = [(X_{k-1}^{x,+})^T, (X_{k-1}^{\omega,+})^T, (X_{k-1}^{\omega,+})^T]$
$X_{k-1}^{x,+} = [X_{k-1,0}^{x,+}, X_{k-1,1}^{x,+},, X_{k-1,2n}^{x,+}]$
$X_{k-1}^{\omega,+} = [X_{k-1,0}^{\omega,+}, X_{k-1,1}^{\omega,+},, X_{k-1,2n}^{\omega,+}]$
$X_{k-1}^{v,+} = [X_{k-1,0}^{v,+}, X_{k-1,1}^{v,+},, X_{k-1,2n}^{v,+}]$
* $(\Sigma_{x,k-1}^{a,+})^{\frac{1}{2}}$ represent Cholesky decomposition
Time update:
$X_{k,i}^{x,-} = f(X_{k-1,i}^{x,+}, u_{k-1}, X_{k-1,i}^{\omega,+})$
$\hat{x}_{k}^{-} = \sum_{i=1}^{2n} W_{mi} X_{ki}^{x,-}$
$\sum_{i=0}^{n}$ $i=0$
$\Sigma_{x,k}^{-} = \sum_{i=0}^{2n} W_{c,i} (X_{k,i}^{x,-} - \hat{x}_{k}^{-}) (X_{k,i}^{x,-} - \hat{x}_{k}^{-})^{T}$
Measurement update:
$Y_{k,i} = g(X_{k,i}^{x,+}, u_{k-1}, X_{k-1,i}^{v,+})$
$\hat{y}_k = \sum_{i=0}^{2n} W_{m,i} Y_{k,i}$
$\sum_{i=0}^{2n} \sum_{i=0}^{2n} (V_i - i)^T$
$\Sigma_{y,k} = \sum_{\substack{i=0\\ i=0}}^{i=0} W_{c,i} (Y_{k,i} - y_k) (Y_{k,i} - y_k)^{T}$
$\Sigma_{xy,k} = \sum_{i=0}^{2n} W_{c,i} (X_{k,i}^{x,-} - \hat{x}_k^-) (Y_{k,i} - \hat{y}_k)^T$
$K_{KF,k} = \Sigma_{xy,k} \Sigma_{y,k}^{-1}$
$\hat{x}_{k}^{+} = \hat{x}_{k}^{-} + K_{KF,k}(y_{k} - \hat{y}_{k})$
$\Sigma_{x,k}^+ = \Sigma_{x,k}^- + K_{KF,k} \Sigma_{y,k} K_{KF,k}^T$



Figure 4.3: 1st-order SPKF with high-order cell model.

estimates produced by this simple cell model of Fig. 4.1 (a) could be sufficient for balancing purposes, but a more detailed higher-order model should be considered when making SOC estimates for other purposes, e.g., calculating power and energy.

An improved method of simplifying the SPKF is introduced next. Considering the higher-order, more accurate models shown in Fig. 4.1 (b) and (c), it can be observed that the problem of accumulation of error in the state estimate is only associated with the z = SOC state variable. The other state variables do not have such problem. For the diffusion voltage v_f and the hysteresis voltage v_h , Kalman filter may provide adequate accuracy without the correction step. The proposed improved, but still computationally simple approach is

illustrated in Fig. 4.3, inspired by the fact that the full Kalman filter may not be essential in maintaining convergence of v_f and v_h estimation. In the new approach, a higher-order cell model, such as the model in Fig. 4.1 (b) or (c), including diffusion and hysteresis effects, is used only in the output equation in the SPKF algorithm. The SPKF algorithm only updates the SOC with its corresponding state equation and the output equation, while the rest of the state variables are updated outside the Kalman filter using the state equations only, without correction. Since the output equation in the higher-order models predicts the cell dynamics more accurately, the SOC estimation can be improved significantly. On the other hand, in the new approach, the SPKF algorithm is always of 1st order no matter what cell model is applied, which gives the designer the flexibility to increase or decrease state number while minimizing the computational effort.

4.4 Experimental Results

The improved 1st order SPKF algorithm shown in Fig. 4.3 is implemented on each microcontroller in the 21-cell battery pack of Fig. 4.4. The system parameters are shown in Table 4.5.

The microcontroller performs autonomous dc-dc converter controls, and LV bus voltage regulation, as described in Chapter 2 and in [13,68]. The SPKF algorithm is programmed in C language, with different cell models shown in Fig. 4.1. The cycling of the battery pack is performed to record the cell voltages and cell currents. The recorded cell voltages and cell currents are then fed to the micro-controllers in each time step to emulate the on-line operation. In this way, SOC estimation experiments can be repeated several times using different algorithms, which allows comparisons of the performance of the improved 1st order SPKF algorithm using different cell models.

The testing current profile is shown in Fig. 4.5. The testing begins and ends with a constant charging at 1C rate (25 A). Discharging and charging based on US06 drive cycles occurs in between, with a peak current of 100 A.



Figure 4.4: 21-cell battery pack at Utah Power Electronics Lab, Utah State University.



Figure 4.5: Battery cell current profile. Each color represents a different cell.

The true SOC of each cell is obtained by calibrated high-resolution Coulomb counting. The initial value is found by treating cells terminal voltage as OCV, which is acceptable since the pack is kept at rest for sufficiently long time before the start of cycling. The cell capacity


Figure 4.6: True SOC of each cell. Each color represents a different cell.

Hardware Setup		
Microcontroller	TMS320F28027 (Texas Instrument)	
Cell nominal total capacity	$25\mathrm{Ah}$	
Cell initial SOC	pprox 78%	
1st-order SPKF Estimation Setup		
Updating period	1 second	
Cell nominal total capacity	$25\mathrm{Ah}$	
Initial SOC	30%	
Initial SOC standard deviation	20%	
Process noise (current) standard deviation	0.3 A	
Sensor noise (voltage) standard deviation	$50\mathrm{mV}$	

Table 4.5:	Experimental	Setup
------------	--------------	-------

value is assumed to be the nominal capacity of the cell, while the true capacity of each cell varies in a range of less than 5% around the nominal value. The true SOCs of the 21 cells are shown in Fig. 4.6. The 1st order SPKF SOC estimation values are recorded from each



Figure 4.7: Experimental results of 1^{st} -order SPKF SOC estimation errors: (a) simple model; (b) RC model; (c) ESC model. Each color represents a different cell.

microcontroller and compared to the true SOC. The differences are shown in Fig. 4.7 (a)-(c) for three different cell models used in the output equation in the improved 1st order SPKF based on Fig. 4.3. Fig. 4.7 (a) shows the results for the simple model: a maximum of 3.6 % SOC estimation error is achieved for all 21 cells. For most cells, the largest estimation error is around 2 %. Fig. 4.7 (b) and (c) show the testing results for the improved 1st order SPKF using the RC model and the ESC model, respectively. The maximum SOC estimation error with the RC model is 3.1 %, and for most cells the largest error is around 1.5 %. The maximum SOC estimation error with the ESC model is 2.6 %, and for most cells the largest error is around 1 %. In all cases, the complexity of the algorithm is low enough so that it can easily be implemented on the same microcontroller that performs dc-dc control and voltage regulation functions.

4.5 Summary

In this chapter, an improved 1st-order sigma point Kalman filter (SPKF) approach is proposed to perform real-time state of charge (SOC) estimation in battery packs with the modular active balancing system considered in this thesis. The method is practically implemented on a low-cost microcontroller that performs control and regulation functions around balancing dc-dc converters in the modular system. The approach is verified on a 21-cell battery pack cycled over a period of 120 minutes through realistic charge/discharge currents based on US06 driving cycles, with a peak current of 100 A. When applied in combination with the enhanced self-correcting cell model, the improved 1st order sigmapoint Kalman filter (SPKF) yields a maximum SOC estimation error of 2.6% for all of the 21 cells in the experimental prototype.

Chapter 5

Lithium-Ion Battery State-of-Health Estimation Using Long Term Aging Data

The change in lithium-ion battery performance over lifetime is often evaluated through battery state-of-health (SOH). There is no consensus on how SOH is defined. However, it is widely agreed that SOH is closely related to battery cell total capacity and inner cell resistance. Cell total capacity takes a significant part in SOH evaluation, and it also plays an important role in SOC estimation, as discussed in the previous chapter.

The total capacity of a cell is typically measured through a reference performance test (RPT). In RPT, the battery cell is fully charged and discharged. The total capacity is calculated by integrating cell current over a certain period. To make the integration as accurate as possible, the cycling current is kept constant. RPT requires certain equipment for battery cell cycling and measurement. It also takes long time to complete. While RPT is a good way to measure battery cell total capacity in research and lab experiments, it is difficult to apply RPT online in xEV applications. An xEV battery has large formation and requires much more energy for an RPT.

Online total capacity estimation, using data from daily driving, does not require critical testing conditions associated with RPT. However, the approach must deal with dynamics and noise present in the battery cell voltage and current. As the cell total capacity changes slowly over time, recursive-least-squre (RLS) based algorithms can be used to estimate total capacity in the noisy environment. The model used in capacity estimation is based on cell



Figure 5.1: Curve fitting with weighted-total-least-square method.

current integration and SOC estimation:

$$y = Q_{tot}x\tag{5.1}$$

in which

$$x \approx z_{end} - z_{start}$$

$$y \approx \int_{t_{start}}^{t_{end}} i_{cell} dt$$
(5.2)

 z_{start} is the cell SOC at time t_{start} , z_{end} is the cell SOC at time t_{end} , and Q_{tot} is the cell total capacity to be estimated.

As both the current integration and the SOC estimation contain noise, weighted-totalleast-square (WTLS) algorithm with both uncertainty in x and y taken into account, shown in Fig. 5.1, has demonstrated improved performance in capacity estimation [1,21,79]. However, it is difficult to implement the WTLS method in a recursive manner with reasonable computational effort. Two state-of-the-art WTLS based online total capacity estimation have been developed in [62] and [34], respectively. In [62], a recursive approximated weighted-total-least-square (RAWTLS) method is developed. The method significantly reduces the computational complexity, which makes it practical for implementation on low-cost microcontrollers. Inspired by the work in [62], [34] comes up with a Rayleigh-quotient based recursive total-least-square (RQ-RTLS) method, which improves speed of convergence, and computational complexity is reduced further.

This work examines the performance of the two state-of-the-art WTLS based online total capacity estimation methods described above. Section 5.1 describes the experimental setup and provides the estimation results, while Section 5.2 gives a summary of this chapter.

5.1 Experimental Results

Long term lithium-ion battery aging data is obtained from collaborators at the National Renewable Energy Lab (NREL) [77]. In the aging test at NREL, a modified commercial PHEV battery pack, shown in Fig. 5.2, with eighty-four cells underwent repeated daily cycles over a period of 15 months. The battery pack employed a standard passive balancing approach in one half of the pack, and the modular active balancing BMS described in Chapters 2-4 in the other half of the pack. Each half pack contains one quarter pack with new cells and another quarter pack with pre-aged cell. The battery pack configuration aims at verifying that the modular active balancing BMS is capable of controlling the degradation rate of individual cell SOH and thus significantly prolonging battery lifetime. In the daily aging cycles, the charge/discharge current patterns correspond to standard driving cycles. The cell voltages and cell currents are recorded every second. The RPT was performed every month to accurately measure the total capacity and inner resistance of each cell.

In this work, six cells in the half pack with modular active balancing BMS are selected to evaluate the online capacity estimation using RAWTLS and RQ-RTLS methods. Cells 2, 3, and 4 are in the quarter pack with new cells, and cell 25, 26 and 27 are in the quarter pack





Figure 5.2: The modified commercial PHEV battery pack tested at NREL, photos taken by Dr. Ying Shi: (a) entire battery pack setup; (b) modular active balancing BMS in one half pack. [77]

with pre-aged cells. The recorded cell voltages and cell currents of 9 months are shown in Fig. 5.3. 1st-order SPKF based SOC estimation is performed using the recorded cell voltages and cell currents. The SOC estimation was performed as discussed in Chapter 4. However, the process noise standard deviation is enlarged to further decouple the effects of the cell total capacity in SOC estimation. The SOC estimation setup is summarized in Table 5.1.



Figure 5.3: NREL lithium-ion battery aging data for 9 months. Cells 2, 3, 4, 25, 26, and 27 in the modular active balancing BMS are selected.

Table 5.1:	SOC	Estimation	Setup
			10 0 0 or Io

SOC Estimation Setup		
Method	1st-order SPKF	
Updating period	1 second	
Cell nominal total capacity	$25\mathrm{Ah}$	
Initial SOC	based on cell terminal voltage	
Initial SOC standard deviation	20%	
Process noise (current) standard deviation	10 A	
Sensor noise (voltage) standard deviation	$50\mathrm{mV}$	

The estimated SOC is used in total capacity estimation based on Eq. (5.1). The capacity estimation setup is summarized in Table 5.2.



Figure 5.4: Total capacity estimation results (a) cell 2; (b) cell 3; (c) cell 4;(d) cell 25; (e) cell 26; (f) cell 27.

Total Capacity Estimation Setup		
Method	RAWTLS and RQ-RTLS	
Updating period	200 second	
Initial capacity	$25\mathrm{Ah}$	
Forgetting factor	0.999	
Cell current noise standard deviation	$0.3\mathrm{A}$	
Cell SOC noise standard deviation	5%	

 Table 5.2: Total Capacity Estimation Setup

The total capacity estimation results are shown in Fig. 5.4. The capacities estimated by RAWTLS and RQ-RTLS are represented by the blue and red lines, respectively, while the RPT measurements are shown as the black dots. The RAWTLS and RQ-RTLS results eventually equal to each other after a certain period. RQ-RTLS has a relatively higher convergence speed than RAWTLS, as expected. For cells 2 and 3 (in the quarter pack with new cells), the estimation results match very well with the RPT measurement. For cells 4 (in the quarter pack with new cells), 25, 26, and 27 (in the quarter pack with pre-aged cells), although the estimation results follow the battery cell degradation trend, there are mismatches between the estimation and the RPT measurements.

The experimental results demonstrate promising performance of RAWTLS and RQ-RTLS in a more practical scenario with a large quantity of cells under long term aging. However, the potential offset error deserves further investigation.

5.2 Summary

In this chapter, online capacity estimation algorithms are evaluated for lithium-ion battery cells tested in a 84-cell battery pack which underwent cycling tests over a period of 15 months, performed by collaborators at the National Renewable Energy Laboratory. Standard passive balancing was performed in one half of the pack, while the modular active balancing system considered in Chapters 2-4 was applied in the other half of the pack. Two state-of-theart weighted-total-least-square (WTLS) based methods, RAWTLS and RQ-RTLS [34, 62], are examined based on the long term battery aging data of 9 months. The estimation results are compared with the measured cell total capacity from reference performance tests. The experimental results show that both methods are capable of successfully estimating cell total capacity. However, observed offset mismatches between the estimation results and the measurements for some cells deserve further investigation.

Chapter 6

Hybrid Balancing in a Modular Battery Management System

The previous chapters and [13, 67] discuss a modular active-balancing system with incorporated vehicle low-voltage (LV) bus, in which both active cell balancing and highvoltage-to-low-voltage (HV-to-LV) dc-dc conversion are achieved by a set of low-power, LVto-LV isolated dc-dc converters. As the system eliminates the need for the high-power, HVto-LV stepdown converter in a conventional power supply architecture shown Figure.6.1, the approach mitigates the cost penalty associated with active balancing.

In this chapter, the approach proposed in [13, 67] is further extended in the direction of finding the best trade-off between active-balancing benefits and the number of dc-dc converters. A modular BMS with hybrid balancing is proposed as shown in Fig. 6.2. The system reuses much of the hardware in a passive balancing BMS and thus significantly reduces the complexity and cost in development. Section 6.1 discusses the system concept and the hybrid balancing approach. Section 6.2 describes the modular BMS implementation, and Section 6.3 presents experimental results.

6.1 Hybrid Balancing Approach

In the hybrid modular system shown in Fig. 6.2, the battery cells in the battery pack are grouped into modules, each containing a subset of cells. Active balancing is applied at the module level by isolated dc-dc converters, while conventional passive balancing is applied at the cell level within a module. The module-level dc-dc converters combine to perform the HV-to-LV conversion function.

6.1.1 Module-Level Active Balancing

Battery life extension is one of the most important benefits of active balancing in xEV applications. In a physically large xEV battery pack, inevitable temperature variations across the pack lead to uneven degradation among the cells, which is one of the major causes of shortened battery life. With specially designed active balancing algorithms enabled by the modular BMS considered in this thesis, up to 40% battery life extension on a BEV75 (battery electric vehicle with 75 miles range) has been reported in [69]. The hybrid approach presented here is motivated by the fact that adjacent cells in a battery pack have much smaller temperature variations and thus degrade in a more uniform manner [78]. As a result, adjacent cells can be grouped into modules for module-level active balancing, while cell-level passive balancing can be performed within each module. Such system retains much of the life extension benefits of cell-level active balancing. On the other hand, as illustrated in the hybrid-balancing modular system shown in Fig. 6.2, the number of dc-dc converters required is significantly reduced compared to cell-level active balancing, leading to reduced overall hardware complexity.

6.1.2 Cell-Level Passive Balancing

While active balancing is performed at the module-level, ancillary passive balancing must be employed within each module using one of standard passive balancing algorithms [2,82,83]. Since the number of cells within a module is relatively small, as shown in Fig. 6.2, the cell-level passive balancing results in much lower energy dissipation compared to the conventional BMS with passive balancing applied across the entire battery pack shown in Fig. 6.1.



Figure 6.1: Conventional passive balancing system.

6.1.3 Module-Level SOC and SOH

Module-level state-of-charge (SOC) and state-of-health (SOH) must be known if active balancing is to be applied at the module-level. As noted in Chapters 4 and 5, a variety of advanced cell-level SOC and SOH estimation methods have been developed [2,62,69,82,83]. However, as the SOC and SOH are different from cell to cell in a module, extraction of module-level information must be carefully considered, especially during times when the cells within a module are not completely balanced by the slow passive balancing action.

As passive balancing is applied to the subset of cells in a module, the module SOH should be based on the worst-case cell within the module. The inner resistance and total capacity of Module i are given by Eq. (6.1) and (6.2), where n and j are the total number and the index of cells within a module.

$$R_{module,i} = n \cdot max(R_{cell,j}) \tag{6.1}$$



Figure 6.2: Modular system with hybrid balancing.

$$Q_{module,i} = min(Q_{cell,j}) \tag{6.2}$$

The calculation of module SOC requires more careful considerations. Suppose that the highest and the lowest cell SOC are $SOC_{max} > SOC_{min}$. If the module SOC is considered to be equal to the highest cell SOC (SOC_{max}), safety limits for the SOC_{min} cell may be violated during module discharging; similarly, if the module SOC is considered to be SOC_{min} , safety limits may be violated for the SOC_{max} cell during charging.

To properly accommodate different module-level active balancing schemes under different cell-level passive balancing conditions, the SOC of Module i is calculated as shown in Eq. (6.3),

$$SOC_{module,i} = \frac{min(SOC_{cell,j}Q_{cell,j})}{min(SOC_{cell,j}Q_{cell,j}) + min((1 - SOC_{cell,j})Q_{cell,j})}$$
(6.3)

When the cells in a module are balanced, $SOC_{cell,1} \approx SOC_{cell,2} \approx ... \approx SOC_{cell,n}$, and

	HV-to-LV step-down	LV-to-LV modular
	converter	converter
	in the system of Fig. 6.1	in the system of Fig. 6.2
Power-stage isolation	Yes	Yes
Stackable	No	Yes
Local controller	Current/voltage regulation	Current regulation
Input voltage	$210 \mathrm{V}$ - $350 \mathrm{V}$	15 V - 24.6 V
Output voltage	$9\mathrm{V}$ - $16\mathrm{V}(12\mathrm{V}\text{ nominal})$	$9\mathrm{V}$ - $16\mathrm{V}(12\mathrm{V}$ nominal)
Converter power	$6.7\mathrm{kW}\mathrm{max}$	$480\mathrm{W}\mathrm{max}$
Converter quantity	1	14

Table 6.1: Comparison of Converter Specifications for An 84-Cell Lithium-Ion Battery Pack

Eq. (6.3) then becomes:

$$SOC_{module,i} \approx \frac{SOC_{cell,j}min(Q_{cell,j})}{SOC_{cell,j}min(Q_{cell,j}) + (1 - SOC_{cell,j})min(Q_{cell,j})} \approx SOC_{cell,k}$$
(6.4)

where index k represents the cell with the least total capacity.

6.2 Modular Hybrid-Balancing System Implementation

The modular hybrid balancing system is shown in Fig. 6.2. Compared to the conventional system shown in Fig. 6.1, which includes a BMS and a HV-to-LV dc-dc converter as separate functional blocks, the modular hybrid-balancing system incorporates the LV dc output capability. The key change in the system architecture is that the original high-power, HV-to-LV stepdown converter is replaced by multiple low-power, module-level LV-to-LV dcdc converters.

Table 6.1 compares the conventional system of Fig. 6.1 with the modular hybrid balancing system in Fig. 6.2 for the case when each module consists of six battery cells. Although the number of converters is higher, the LV-to-LV converters (referred to as modular converters in the rest of the chapter) have proportionally reduced power ratings, and employ only low-voltage components. In addition, the modular system can be easily adapted to different battery pack sizes. High-voltage high-power conversion can be achieved through stacking more modular converters.

The control architecture of the modular active-balancing system has been referred to in Chapter 2, and the particular version applied here is described in more detail in [70]. As shown in Fig. 6.4, each modular converter has a standard proportional-integral (PI) controller to accurately regulate its input current locally. The bus voltage compensator is implemented in the central BMS controller. The bus voltage compensator outputs a common current reference for the current loop in each modular converter. In addition to the voltage compensator, a delta SOC compensator runs simultaneously in the central BMS controller. The delta SOC compensator outputs differentiated current references to achieve module balancing.

The modular converter adopts dual-active-bridge (DAB) for the power-stage. The measured converter prototype efficiency as a function of power is shown in Fig. 6.3. Maximum measured efficiency is 95 %. Efficiency remains higher than 94 % for absolute values of output power down to 80 W or 17 % of the dc-dc module power rating.

Another significant advantage of the proposed hybrid system architecture is that the system can be constructed as an upgrade of a conventional BMS with passive balancing by reusing the majority of existing BMS functions in the conventional design, and by adding functions of module-level active balancing. These shared BMS features are further described in the following sub-sections.

6.2.1 Shared Battery Cell Measurements

In EV/HEV applications, cell-level monitoring is mandatory for battery pack state estimation and to ensure safe operation, regardless of whether passive or active balancing are employed. Typical measurements include cell voltage, cell current, and cell temperature. Cell voltage and cell temperature measurements are usually integrated into commercial battery



Figure 6.3: Efficiency of the dual-active-bridge (DAB) converter in the modular hybrid balancing system.



Figure 6.4: Control architecture for the active balancing system. [70]

monitoring ICs. Cell current is usually calculated by adding up the string current and the passive balancing current. The string current is centrally measured, while the passive balancing current is derived by dividing cell voltage by the nominal passive balancing shunt resistance. These measurements are reused to achieve module-level active balancing in this work, without the need for any additional sensors.

6.2.2 Shared Central BMS Controller

A conventional BMS with passive balancing typically operates with a central BMS controller and a number of battery monitoring ICs, as shown in Fig. 6.1. The central BMS controller collects cell information from the battery monitoring ICs, performs state-of-charge (SOC) and state-of-health (SOH) estimation, and runs necessary BMS algorithms including passive balancing. Typically, the BMS controller also extracts high-level battery pack information from the individual cells within the pack, and serve as an interface between the battery pack and a vehicle system controller. For the modular BMS with hybrid balancing, the active-balancing algorithms in [69,70] can be integrated into the same central BMS controller within computational capability of the existing controller hardware. As shown in this work, the central BMS controller for the hybrid balancing system can be achieved using a low-cost micro-controller: TMS320F28035 (Texas Instruments).

Following the work described in Chapters 4 and 5, advanced SOC and SOH estimation are also implemented in the central BMS controller. A 1st-order sigma-point-Kalman-filter (SPKF) SOC estimation method of [60,61] has been adapted to micro-controller implementation as discussed in Chapter 4 and in [86]. The method demonstrates a worst-case SOC estimation error of 1.5% for twenty-one nickel-manganese-cobalt (NMC) Lithium-ion cells. The same method is applied to all eighteen pack cells individually. The inner resistance and capacity estimation methods are as described in Chapter 5, with reference to [60,62].

6.2.3 Shared Communication Bus

In the conventional BMS with passive balancing, communication between the central BMS controller and the battery monitoring ICs is required to collect cell information and send necessary commands. Many commercial battery monitoring ICs have built-in functions for easy and robust communication. The IC used in this work, LTC6802-2 (Linear Technology) [44], also supports interface for one additional local device, which makes it possible to add



Figure 6.5: (a) 1.7 kWh modular hybrid system prototype assembled by collaborators at the Utah Power Electronics Lab; (b) modular LV-to-LV converter with battery monitoring IC; (c) central BMS controller.

the modular converters onto the already available communication bus without any additional hardware. To achieve the control algorithm developed in [70], a 16-bit time-critical control signal is broadcast to the modular converters every one millisecond, while all other necessary data are communicated at the rate of one second.



Figure 6.6: Module-level active balancing for 3 modules.



Figure 6.7: Cell-level passive balancing for the 6 cells within one module.

6.3 Experimental Results

The hybrid system is demonstrated on a battery pack that consists of eighteen 25 Ah NMC cells, grouped in three 6-cell modules, each including a dc-dc converter, as summarized in Table 6.1. The complete system is shown in Fig. 6.5 (a). The modular LV-to-LV converter and the central BMS controller are shown in Fig. 6.5 (b) and Fig. 6.5 (c), respectively.

In the experiment, active balancing is demonstrated on the three modules, while passive

balancing is demonstrated on the six cells within each module. In the active balancing demonstration, the modules are charged from about 20% SOC to 70% SOC, with 8% difference in SOC at the beginning. A constant current load is applied to the LV bus. The load is shared by the modular converters in such a manner that the module with higher SOC takes a larger share of the load. The resulting SOC and current waveforms of module-level active balancing are shown in Fig. 6.6. In the passive balancing demonstration, the cells with higher SOC dissipate energy through a 27 Ω per-cell shunting resistor — value selected to achieve average balancing speed of 0.5% SOC per hour. The SOC convergence of cell-level passive balancing is shown in Fig. 6.7.

6.4 Summary

A hybrid modular battery management system with module-level active balancing and cell-level passive balancing is presented in this chapter. Module-level active balancing is performed by dc-dc converters, which simultaneously perform the high-voltage-to-low-voltage (HV-to-LV) dc-dc conversion required in electric-drive vehicles. Concepts for sharing BMS hardware resources for the active and passive balancing subsystems are described. The hybrid system features favorable cost/performance tradeoffs, and is capable of implementing a range of system and module-level control strategies. The system is experimentally demonstrated on a Lithium-ion battery pack, which consists of eighteen 25 Ah cells grouped in three 6-cell modules, each including a 480 W dc-dc converter simultaneously performing active balancing and supplying power to the vehicle 12 V LV bus.

Chapter 7

Conclusions and Future Work

7.1 Conclusions

This dissertation focuses on modeling, control, and design of a modular battery management system (BMS) using a series-input-parallel-output converter system incorporating both cell-level active balancing and low-voltage bus regulation in electric drive vehicles (xEV).

Stability of the system with autonomous control applied to cell-converter units is analyzed, and stability issues related to the state-of-charge (SOC) control loop are identified. The SOC loop and the bus voltage loop share the same proportional-integral (PI) compensator. The SOC loop bandwidth is much lower than the bus voltage control loop mainly due to the fact that the lithium-ion battery cell total capacity value is much larger than the capacitance at the converter output. As the PI parameters are designed for the bus voltage regulation, the SOC loop exhibits poor phase margin leading to instability and oscillating converter currents. A comprehensive analysis of the SOC loop is performed. The loop-gain transfer function is further simplified to second-order for simple SOC loop compensator design. The stability analysis leads to a droop-resistance approach, which results in stable system operation.

In the system prototype, the converter modules are based on the isolated dual-activebridge (DAB) topology, controlled using phase-shift modulation. It is found that conventional DAB steady-state equations fail to model the low-voltage prototype converter in the system. A new DAB steady-state modeling method using superposition is developed. The new method makes it possible to directly visualize the DAB steady-state operating based on the switching waveforms. Based on the new method, an improved DAB steady-state model is derived, which takes into account conduction losses in the converter. The improved model successfully predicts the converter currents as functions of converter voltages and the phaseshift. Furthermore, a simplified form of the improved model decouples critical variables. Conditions are formulated in terms of the converter parameter values: the series tank inductance and the equivalent series resistance, which allow the designer to evaluate how well the conventional steady-state model represents the converter steady-state characteristics, and to employ the improved model if necessary.

In order to achieve autonomous control of cell-converter units, each unit in the system must estimate state-of-charge (SOC) of the corresponding lithium-ion battery cell. Sigmapoint Kalman filter (SPKF) based SOC estimation has demonstrated excellent performance in xEV environments. This work significantly reduces the required computational complexity by introducing a simplified 1st-order SPKF SOC estimation method. With the simplified 1st-order SPKF, a high-order matrix computation becomes a simple scalar computation, which allows the method to be implemented on a low-cost micro-controller. The approach is tested on the prototype system with 21 cell-converter units using 25Ah Panasonic lithium-ion nickel-manganese-cobalt (NMC) cells.

In addition to SOC, state-of-health (SOH) estimation is also critically important in advanced BMS. Performance of two state-of-the-art online capacity estimation methods are examined using long term aging data obtained by prototype system testing performed at the National Renewable Energy Laboratory. The experimental results demonstrate performance of the two methods, and reveal the need to further investigate offset errors in estimated capacity values.

The modular BMS is extended in the direction of further reducing system complexity and cost. A hybrid balancing approach with module-level active balancing and cell-level passive balancing is introduced. Module-level active balancing aims at improving battery lifetime for modules with large temperature variation, while cell-level passive balancing targets aims at reducing system complexity and cost for cells with small temperature variation. A hardware prototype of the system is developed and demonstrated.

The work and the results reported in this thesis contributed to a multi-disciplinary project focused on robust cell-level modeling and control of large battery packs. Sponsored by ARPA-E AMPED program, the project was a collaboration between Utah State University (USU), University of Colorado Boulder (CU Boulder), University of Colorado Colorado Spring (UCCS), National Renewable Energy Lab (NREL), and Ford Motor Company. The results of this thesis were included in modeling, control, design and implementation of a large format prototype battery pack based on modifications of a commercial PHEV battery with eighty-four lithium-ion cells in series. The modular active balancing BMS was applied to a half pack with forty-two cells, while conventional passive balancing was applied to the other half pack for comparison. The modular active balancing BMS demonstrated potentials for significant improvements in battery lifetime, verified by a 15-month cycling and aging test performed at NREL. The prototype also demonstrated potentials for cost and size reduction achieved by elimination of a separate high-voltage-to-low-voltage (HV-to-LV) step-down converter in the conventional xEV architecture.

7.2 Future Work

The work presented in this thesis can be extended in several directions, including development of a system control architecture when the lead-acid battery is present on the low-voltage bus, evaluation of cost/performance trade-offs in the hybrid system architecture, further refinements of the SOC and SOH algorithms and their practical implementations, as well as full system evaluations in the xEV environment.

Investigation of other possible system architectures is another topic for future work. In particular, another modular BMS incorporating both active balancing and battery output



Figure 7.1: Modular BMS incorporating both active balancing and battery output voltage regulation.



Figure 7.2: Hardware demonstration of the modular BMS incorporating both active balancing and battery output voltage regulation.

voltage regulation is shown in Fig. 7.1. In this system, which is well suited for dc microgrid applications, simple non-isolated converter such as the non-inverting buck boost converter can be used. Each converter processes the full battery current. A hardware prototype has been developed, shown in Fig. 7.2. Future work will include development of the system control architecture and evaluation of the system performance.

Bibliography

- Alexander C Aitken. Iv.on least squares and linear combination of observations. Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh, 55:42–48, 1936.
- [2] Davide Andrea. <u>Battery management systems for large lithium-ion battery packs</u>. Artech house, 2010.
- [3] Todd M Bandhauer, Srinivas Garimella, and Thomas F Fuller. A critical review of thermal issues in lithium-ion batteries. <u>Journal of the Electrochemical Society</u>, 158(3):R1– R25, 2011.
- [4] P Barrade. Series connection of supercapacitors: Comparative study of solutions for the active equalization of the voltages. In <u>Proceedings of 7th International Conference on</u> Modeling and Simulation of Electric Machines, Converters and Systems, page 4, 2002.
- [5] Andrew C Baughman and Mehdi Ferdowsi. Double-tiered switched-capacitor battery charge equalization technique. <u>IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics</u>, 55(6):2277– 2285, 2008.
- [6] Thorsten Baumhöfer, Manuel Brühl, Susanne Rothgang, and Dirk Uwe Sauer. Production caused variation in capacity aging trend and correlation to initial cell performance. Journal of Power Sources, 247:332–338, 2014.
- [7] CC Chan and KT Chau. <u>Modern electric vehicle technology</u>, volume 47. Oxford University Press on Demand, 2001.
- [8] CC Chan, EWC Lo, and Shen Weixiang. The available capacity computation model based on artificial neural network for lead-acid batteries in electric vehicles. Journal of power sources, 87(1):201–204, 2000.
- [9] Dafen Chen, Jiuchun Jiang, Gi-Heon Kim, Chuanbo Yang, and Ahmad Pesaran. Comparison of different cooling methods for lithium ion battery cells. <u>Applied Thermal</u> Engineering, 94:846–854, 2016.
- [10] Yang Chen, Xiaofang Liu, Yangyi Cui, Jiming Zou, and Shiyan Yang. A multiwinding transformer cell-to-cell active equalization method for lithium-ion batteries with reduced number of driving circuits. <u>IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics</u>, 31(7):4916–4929, 2016.

- [11] Donald Chung, Emma Elgqvist, and Shriram Santhanagopalan. Automotive lithiumion battery supply chain and us competitiveness considerations. Technical report, Clean Energy Manufacturing Analysis Center (CEMAC), 2015.
- [12] Fabio Codeca, Sergio M Savaresi, and Giorgio Rizzoni. On battery state of charge estimation: A new mixed algorithm. In <u>Control Applications</u>, 2008. CCA 2008. IEEE International Conference on, pages 102–107. IEEE, 2008.
- [13] Daniel Costinett, Kelly Hathaway, Muneeb Ur Rehman, Michael Evzelman, Regan Zane, Yoash Levron, and Dragan Maksimovic. Active balancing system for electric vehicles with incorporated low voltage bus. In <u>Applied Power Electronics Conference</u> and Exposition (APEC), 2014 Twenty-Ninth Annual IEEE, pages 3230–3236. IEEE, 2014.
- [14] Daniel Costinett, Dragan Maksimovic, and Regan Zane. Design and control for high efficiency in high step-down dual active bridge converters operating at high switching frequency. IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, 28(8):3931–3940, 2013.
- [15] Daniel Costinett, Regan Zane, and Dragan Maksimovic. Discrete time modeling of output disturbances in the dual active bridge converter. In <u>Applied Power Electronics</u> <u>Conference and Exposition (APEC), 2014 Twenty-Ninth Annual IEEE, pages 1171– 1177. IEEE, 2014.</u>
- [16] Rik WAA De Doncker, Deepakraj M Divan, and Mustansir H Kheraluwala. A threephase soft-switched high-power-density dc/dc converter for high-power applications. IEEE transactions on industry applications, 27(1):63–73, 1991.
- [17] Markus Einhorn, Wolfgang Guertlschmid, Thomas Blochberger, Rupert Kumpusch, Robert Permann, Fiorentino Valerio Conte, Christian Kral, and Juergen Fleig. A current equalization method for serially connected battery cells using a single power converter for each cell. IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology, 60(9):4227–4237, 2011.
- [18] Hans Ertl, Johann W Kolar, and Franz C Zach. Analysis of a multilevel multicell switchmode power amplifier employing the" flying-battery" concept. <u>IEEE Transactions on</u> Industrial electronics, 49(4):816–823, 2002.
- [19] Michael Evzelman, M Muneeb Ur Rehman, Kelly Hathaway, Regan Zane, Daniel Costinett, and Dragan Maksimovic. Active balancing system for electric vehicles with incorporated low-voltage bus. <u>IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics</u>, 31(11):7887– 7895, 2016.
- [20] Damien F Frost and David A Howey. Completely decentralized active balancing battery management system. IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, 33(1):729–738, 2018.
- [21] Gene H Golub and Charles F Van Loan. An analysis of the total least squares problem. SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis, 17(6):883–893, 1980.

- [22] Zhou Haihua and Ashwin M Khambadkone. Hybrid modulation for dual active bridge bi-directional converter with extended power range for ultracapacitor application. In <u>Industry Applications Society Annual Meeting</u>, 2008. IAS'08. IEEE, pages 1–8. IEEE, 2008.
- [23] MA Hannan, MM Hoque, A Mohamed, and A Ayob. Review of energy storage systems for electric vehicle applications: Issues and challenges. <u>Renewable and Sustainable</u> Energy Reviews, 69:771–789, 2017.
- [24] Terry Hansen and Chia-Jiu Wang. Support vector based battery state of charge estimator. Journal of Power Sources, 141(2):351–358, 2005.
- [25] DC Hopkins, CR Mosling, and ST Hung. The use of equalizing converters for serial charging of long battery strings. In <u>Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, 1991. APEC'91. Conference Proceedings, 1991., Sixth Annual, pages 493– 498. IEEE, 1991.</u>
- [26] Douglas C Hopkins, Charles R Mosling, and Stephen T Hung. Dynamic equalization during charging of serial energy storage elements. <u>IEEE Transactions on Industry</u> Applications, 29(2):363–368, 1993.
- [27] Xiaosong Hu, Shengbo Li, and Huei Peng. A comparative study of equivalent circuit models for li-ion batteries. Journal of Power Sources, 198:359–367, 2012.
- [28] Stephen T Hung, Douglas C Hopkins, and Charles R Mosling. Extension of battery life via charge equalization control. <u>IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics</u>, 40(1):96– 104, 1993.
- [29] Simon J Julier and Jeffrey K Uhlmann. Unscented filtering and nonlinear estimation. Proceedings of the IEEE, 92(3):401–422, 2004.
- [30] Rudolph Emil Kalman et al. A new approach to linear filtering and prediction problems. Journal of basic Engineering, 82(1):35–45, 1960.
- [31] M Keyser, Ahmad Pesaran, M Mihalic, and Bob Nelson. Charging algorithms for increasing lead acid battery cycle life for electric vehicles. In <u>the 17th International</u> Electric Vehicle Symposium (EVS-17), Montreal, Canada, 2000.
- [32] MN Kheraluwala, Randal W Gascoigne, Deepakraj M Divan, and Eric D Baumann. Performance characterization of a high-power dual active bridge dc-to-dc converter. IEEE Transactions on industry applications, 28(6):1294–1301, 1992.
- [33] Il-Song Kim. Nonlinear state of charge estimator for hybrid electric vehicle battery. IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, 23(4):2027–2034, 2008.
- [34] Taesic Kim, Yebin Wang, Zafer Sahinoglu, Toshihiro Wada, Satoshi Hara, and Wei Qiao. A rayleigh quotient-based recursive total-least-squares online maximum capacity estimation for lithium-ion batteries. <u>IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion</u>, 30(3):842–851, 2015.

- [35] Jonathan W Kimball, Brian T Kuhn, and Philip T Krein. Increased performance of battery packs by active equalization. In <u>Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference</u>, 2007. VPPC 2007. IEEE, pages 323–327. IEEE, 2007.
- [36] Florian Krismer and Johann W Kolar. Accurate power loss model derivation of a highcurrent dual active bridge converter for an automotive application. <u>IEEE Transactions</u> on Industrial Electronics, 57(3):881–891, 2010.
- [37] Florian Krismer and Johann W Kolar. Efficiency-optimized high-current dual active bridge converter for automotive applications. <u>IEEE Transactions on Industrial</u> Electronics, 59(7):2745–2760, 2012.
- [38] Nasser H Kutkut. Nondissipative current diverter using a centralized multi-winding transformer. In <u>Power Electronics Specialists Conference</u>, 1997. PESC'97 Record., 28th Annual IEEE, volume 1, pages 648–654. IEEE, 1997.
- [39] Nasser H Kutkut, Deepak M Divan, and Donald W Novotny. Charge equalization for series connected battery strings. <u>IEEE transactions on industry applications</u>, 31(3):562– 568, 1995.
- [40] Nasser H Kutkut, Herman LN Wiegman, Deepak M Divan, and Donald W Novotny. Charge equalization for an electric vehicle battery system. <u>IEEE Transactions on</u> Aerospace and Electronic Systems, 34(1):235–246, 1998.
- [41] Nasser H Kutkut, Herman LN Wiegman, Deepak M Divan, and Donald W Novotny. Design considerations for charge equalization of an electric vehicle battery system. <u>IEEE</u> Transactions on Industry Applications, 35(1):28–35, 1999.
- [42] Simon M Lambert, Volker Pickert, David J Atkinson, and Huaxia Zhan. Transformerbased equalization circuit applied to n-number of high capacitance cells. <u>IEEE</u> Transactions on Power Electronics, 31(2):1334–1343, 2016.
- [43] Yoash Levron, Daniel Russel Clement, Beomseok Choi, Carlos Olalla, and Dragan Maksimovic. Control of submodule integrated converters in the isolated-port differential power-processing photovoltaic architecture. <u>IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected</u> Topics in Power Electronics, 2(4):821–832, 2014.
- [44] Linear Technology. LTC6804-1/LTC6804-2 Multicell Battery Monitors.
- [45] Lin Liu, Jonghyun Park, Xianke Lin, Ann Marie Sastry, and Wei Lu. A thermalelectrochemical model that gives spatial-dependent growth of solid electrolyte interphase in a li-ion battery. Journal of Power Sources, 268:482–490, 2014.
- [46] Xing Luo, Jihong Wang, Mark Dooner, and Jonathan Clarke. Overview of current development in electrical energy storage technologies and the application potential in power system operation. Applied Energy, 137:511–536, 2015.

- [47] K Mizushima, PC Jones, PJ Wiseman, and John B Goodenough. LixCoO2 (0 < x < 1): A new cathode material for batteries of high energy density. <u>Materials Research Bulletin</u>, 15(6):783–789, 1980.
- [48] Chin-Sien Moo, Kong-Soon Ng, and Jin-Shin Hu. Operation of battery power modules with series output. In <u>Industrial Technology</u>, 2009. ICIT 2009. IEEE International Conference on, pages 1–6. IEEE, 2009.
- [49] Stephen W Moore and Peter J Schneider. A review of cell equalization methods for lithium ion and lithium polymer battery systems. Technical report, SAE Technical Paper, 2001.
- [50] RT Naayagi, Andrew J Forsyth, and R Shuttleworth. High-power bidirectional dcdc converter for aerospace applications. <u>IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics</u>, 27(11):4366–4379, 2012.
- [51] K Nishijima, H Sakamoto, and K Harada. A pwm controlled simple and high performance battery balancing system. In <u>Power Electronics Specialists Conference</u>, 2000. PESC 00. 2000 IEEE 31st Annual, volume 1, pages 517–520. IEEE, 2000.
- [52] Carlos Olalla, Daniel Clement, Miguel Rodriguez, and Dragan Maksimovic. Architectures and control of submodule integrated dc-dc converters for photovoltaic applications. IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, 28(6):2980–2997, 2013.
- [53] G Ortiz, J Biela, D Bortis, and Johann W Kolar. 1 megawatt, 20 khz, isolated, bidirectional 12kv to 1.2 kv dc-dc converter for renewable energy applications. In <u>Power</u> Electronics Conference (IPEC), 2010 International, pages 3212–3219. IEEE, 2010.
- [54] Gabriel Ortiz, Hirofumi Uemura, Dominik Bortis, Johann Walter Kolar, and Oscar Apeldoorn. Modeling of soft-switching losses of igbts in high-power high-efficiency dualactive-bridge dc/dc converters. <u>IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices</u>, 60(2):587–597, 2013.
- [55] Young-Hwa Park, See-Young Choi, Yeong-Jun Choi, Rae-Young Kim, and Jin-Tae Cho. A novel charge equalizer with auxiliary circuit to control the allowable charging and discharging current of the lithium-ion battery. In <u>Future Energy Electronics Conference</u> and ECCE Asia (IFEEC 2017-ECCE Asia), 2017 IEEE 3rd International, pages 500– 505. IEEE, 2017.
- [56] Cesar Pascual and Philip T Krein. Switched capacitor system for automatic series battery equalization. In <u>Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, 1997.</u> <u>APEC'97 Conference Proceedings 1997.</u>, Twelfth Annual, volume 2, pages 848–854. <u>IEEE, 1997.</u>
- [57] Gregory L Plett. Extended kalman filtering for battery management systems of lipbbased hev battery packs: Part 1. background. <u>Journal of Power sources</u>, 134(2):252–261, 2004.

- [58] Gregory L Plett. Extended kalman filtering for battery management systems of lipbbased hev battery packs: Part 2. modeling and identification. <u>Journal of Power sources</u>, 134(2):262–276, 2004.
- [59] Gregory L Plett. Extended kalman filtering for battery management systems of lipbbased hev battery packs: Part 3. state and parameter estimation. Journal of Power sources, 134(2):277–292, 2004.
- [60] Gregory L Plett. Sigma-point kalman filtering for battery management systems of lipbbased hev battery packs: Part 1: Introduction and state estimation. Journal of Power Sources, 161(2):1356–1368, 2006.
- [61] Gregory L Plett. Sigma-point kalman filtering for battery management systems of lipbbased hev battery packs: Part 2: Simultaneous state and parameter estimation. Journal of power sources, 161(2):1369–1384, 2006.
- [62] Gregory L Plett. Recursive approximate weighted total least squares estimation of battery cell total capacity. Journal of Power Sources, 196(4):2319–2331, 2011.
- [63] Gregory L Plett. <u>Battery Management Systems</u>, Volume I: Battery Modeling. Artech House, 2015.
- [64] Gregory L Plett. <u>Battery Management Systems</u>, Volume II: Equivalent-Circuit Methods. Artech House, 2015.
- [65] Hengsi Qin and Jonathan W Kimball. Generalized average modeling of dual active bridge dc-dc converter. <u>IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics</u>, 27(4):2078–2084, 2012.
- [66] Habiballah Rahimi-Eichi, Unnati Ojha, Federico Baronti, and Mo-Yuen Chow. Battery management system: An overview of its application in the smart grid and electric vehicles. IEEE Industrial Electronics Magazine, 7(2):4–16, 2013.
- [67] M Muneeb Ur Rehman, Michael Evzelman, Kelly Hathaway, Regan Zane, Gregory L Plett, Kandler Smith, Eric Wood, and Dragan Maksimovic. Modular approach for continuous cell-level balancing to improve performance of large battery packs. In <u>Energy</u> Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), 2014 IEEE, pages 4327–4334. IEEE, 2014.
- [68] M Muneeb Ur Rehman, Fan Zhang, Michael Evzelman, Regan Zane, and Dragan Maksimovic. Control of a series-input, parallel-output cell balancing system for electric vehicle battery packs. In <u>Control and Modeling for Power Electronics (COMPEL)</u>, 2015 IEEE 16th Workshop on, pages 1–7. IEEE, 2015.
- [69] M Muneeb Ur Rehman, Fan Zhang, Michael Evzelman, Regan Zane, Kandler Smith, and Dragan Maksimovic. Advanced cell-level control for extending electric vehicle battery pack lifetime. In <u>Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE)</u>, 2016 IEEE, pages 1–8. IEEE, 2016.

- [70] M Muneeb Ur Rehman, Fan Zhang, Regan Zane, and Dragan Maksimovic. Design and control of an integrated bms/dc-dc system for electric vehicles. In <u>Control and</u> <u>Modeling for Power Electronics (COMPEL), 2016 IEEE 17th Workshop on, pages 1–7.</u> <u>IEEE, 2016.</u>
- [71] M Muneeb Ur Rehman, Fan Zhang, Regan Zane, and Dragan Maksimovic. Control of bidirectional dc/dc converters in reconfigurable, modular battery systems. In <u>Applied</u> <u>Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC)</u>, 2017 IEEE, pages 1277–1283. IEEE, 2017.
- [72] Seyed Mohammad Rezvanizaniani, Zongchang Liu, Yan Chen, and Jay Lee. Review and recent advances in battery health monitoring and prognostics technologies for electric vehicle (ev) safety and mobility. Journal of Power Sources, 256:110–124, 2014.
- [73] Heribert Schmidt and Christoph Siedle. The charge equalizer-a new system to extend battery lifetime in photovoltaic systems, ups and electric vehicles. In <u>Telecommunications Energy Conference, INTELEC'93. 15th International</u>, volume 2, pages 146–151. IEEE, 1993.
- [74] Dinesh Segaran, Donald Grahame Holmes, and Brendan Peter McGrath. Enhanced load step response for a bidirectional dc-dc converter. <u>IEEE Transactions on Power</u> Electronics, 28(1):371–379, 2013.
- [75] Elizabeth D Sexton, Robert F Nelson, and John B Olson. Improved charge algorithms for valve regulated lead acid batteries. In <u>Battery Conference on Applications and</u> Advances, 2000. The Fifteenth Annual, pages 211–216. IEEE, 2000.
- [76] Yunlong Shang, Bing Xia, Chenghui Zhang, Naxin Cui, Jufeng Yang, and Chunting Chris Mi. An automatic equalizer based on forward-flyback converter for seriesconnected battery strings. IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, 2017.
- [77] Ying Shi, Kandler Smith, Regan Zane, and Dyche Anderson. Life prediction of large lithium-ion battery packs with active and passive balancing. In <u>American Control</u> Conference (ACC), 2017, pages 4704–4709. IEEE, 2017.
- [78] Kandler Smith, Ying Shi, Eric Wood, and Ahmad Pesaran. Optimizing battery usage and management for long life. Technical report, NREL (National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL), Golden, CO (United States)), 2016.
- [79] Sabine Van Huffel and Joos Vandewalle. <u>The total least squares problem: computational</u> aspects and analysis. SIAM, 1991.
- [80] J Vetter, P Novák, MR Wagner, C Veit, K-C Möller, JO Besenhard, M Winter, M Wohlfahrt-Mehrens, C Vogler, and A Hammouche. Ageing mechanisms in lithium-ion batteries. Journal of power sources, 147(1):269–281, 2005.

- [81] Thomas Waldmann, Marcel Wilka, Michael Kasper, Meike Fleischhammer, and Margret Wohlfahrt-Mehrens. Temperature dependent ageing mechanisms in lithium-ion batteries–a post-mortem study. Journal of Power Sources, 262:129–135, 2014.
- [82] James Daniel Welsh Jr. A comparison of active and passive cell balancing techniques for series/parallel battery packs. PhD thesis, The Ohio State University, 2009.
- [83] Sihua Wen. Cell balancing buys extra run time and battery life. <u>Analog Applications</u> Journal, 1, 2009.
- [84] M Stanley Whittingham. Electrical energy storage and intercalation chemistry. <u>Science</u>, 192(4244):1126–1127, 1976.
- [85] Yuanmao Ye, Ka Wai E Cheng, Yat Chi Fong, Xiangdang Xue, and Jiongkang Lin. Topology, modeling, and design of switched-capacitor-based cell balancing systems and their balancing exploration. <u>IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics</u>, 32(6):4444–4454, 2017.
- [86] Fan Zhang, M Muneeb Ur Rehman, Hongjie Wang, Yoash Levron, Gregory Plett, Regan Zane, and Dragan Maksimović. State-of-charge estimation based on microcontroller-implemented sigma-point kalman filter in a modular cell balancing system for lithium-ion battery packs. In <u>Control and Modeling for Power Electronics (COMPEL)</u>, 2015 IEEE 16th Workshop on, pages 1–7. IEEE, 2015.
- [87] Fan Zhang, M Muneeb Ur Rehman, Regan Zane, and Dragan Maksimović. Improved steady-state model of the dual-active-bridge converter. In <u>Energy Conversion Congress</u> and Exposition (ECCE), 2015 IEEE, pages 630–636. IEEE, 2015.
- [88] Fan Zhang, M Muneeb Ur Rehman, Regan Zane, and Dragan Maksimovic. Hybrid balancing in a modular battery management system for electric-drive vehicles. In <u>Energy</u> <u>Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), 2017 IEEE</u>. IEEE, 2017.
- [89] Jingliang Zhang and Jay Lee. A review on prognostics and health monitoring of li-ion battery. Journal of Power Sources, 196(15):6007–6014, 2011.